
 

 

National Park Authority  - 22 September 2017 1 

 

BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY 

 

 

Dear Member 

A meeting of the NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY will be held in THE 

CONFERENCE ROOM, PLAS Y FFYNNON, CAMBRIAN WAY, BRECON 

LD3 7HP ON FRIDAY, 22ND SEPTEMBER, 2017 AT 10.00 AM when your 

attendance is requested. 

 

Yours sincerely 

 

John Cook 

 

Chief Executive 

PLEASE NOTE THAT THE NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY FILMS AND 

WEBCASTS ALL ITS PUBLIC MEETINGS LIVE  - 

http://www.breconbeacons.public-i.tv/core/  

 

Fire Evacuation Advice 

In the event of a fire, please exit the building via the main staircase, 

and assemble in the car park at Assembly Point 3 

 

1  CORRESPONDENCE (Pages 1 - 12) 

 To receive and consider the attached Schedule of Correspondence and any 

recommendations thereon (below). 

  

To receive the Annual Improvement Report from the Wales Audit Office. 

2  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

Public Document Pack

http://www.breconbeacons.public-i.tv/core/


 

 

 

 

National Park Authority  - 22 September 2017 2 

 

 To receive any declarations of interest from Members relating to items on the 

agenda.  Members’ attention is drawn to the sheet attached to the attendance 

sheet and the need to record their declarations verbally and in writing, 

specifying the nature of the interest. 

  

If Members have declared an interest in an item please ensure that you 

inform the Chair when you are leaving the room, so that this can be 

recorded in the minutes. 

  

3  MINUTES (Pages 13 - 20) 

 To approve the minutes of the National Park Authority meeting held on 28
th

 

July 2017 and authorise the Chairman to sign them as a correct record. 

4  PUBLIC SPEAKING  

 To give opportunity for members of the public to address the meeting in 

accordance with the Authority’s Public Speaking Scheme. 

  

5  CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  

 To receive a verbal report on meetings and events attended by the Chairman 

since the last meeting of the Authority. 

  

6  CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  

 To receive a report from the Chief Executive on meetings attended and 

progress made on Authority business since the last meeting of the Authority. 

  

A:  REPORTS FOR DECISION: CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

7  COMMITTEE TIMETABLE 2018 (Pages 21 - 28) 

8  REVIEW OF MEMBERS EXIT INTERVIEW POLICY (Pages 29 - 46) 

9  REVIEW OF PERSONAL DEVELOPMENT INTERVIEW PROCESS 

(Pages 47 - 60) 



 

 

 

 

National Park Authority  - 22 September 2017 3 

 

B:  REPORTS FOR DECISION: DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT 

10  AFFORDABLE HOUSING WORKING GROUP:  TERMS OF 

REFERENCE (Pages 61 - 64) 

11  LOCAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN ANNUAL MONITORING REPORT 

(APR 2016-MAR2017) (Pages 65 - 118) 

C:  REPORTS FOR DECISION: COUNTRYSIDE AND LAND 

MANAGEMENT 

D:  REPORTS FOR INFORMATION 

12  MEMBER CHAMPION REPORTS  

 To receive a verbal report from the Heritage Champion. 

  

13  MEMBER REPORTS  

 To receive reports from members who have attended meetings or events on 

behalf of the Authority. 

14  GIFTS AND HOSPITALITY  

 To note any gifts or hospitality received since the last meeting. 

15  ANY OTHER BUSINESS  

 To consider any other business which is, in the opinion of the Chairman, of 

sufficient urgency to warrant consideration. 

 

SCHEDULE OF CORRESPONDENCE 

1. To receive apologies for absence 

2. To receive the Annual Improvement Report for 2016/17 

Any enquiries about this agenda should be addressed to Julia Gruffydd or Angharad 

Hawkes on 01874 624437 



This page is intentionally left blank



Annual Improvement Report 2016-17  
Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 

Issued: August 2017
Document reference: 396A2017

Page 1

Agenda Item 1



The Auditor General is independent of government, and is appointed by Her Majesty the Queen. The Auditor 
General undertakes his work using staff and other resources provided by the Wales Audit Office Board, which is 
a statutory board established for that purpose and to monitor and advise the Auditor General. The Wales Audit 
Office is held to account by the National Assembly.

The Auditor General audits local government bodies in Wales, including unitary authorities, police, probation, 
fire and rescue authorities, national parks and community councils. He also conducts local government value 
for money studies and assesses compliance with the requirements of the Local Government (Wales) Measure 
2009.

Beyond local government, the Auditor General is the external auditor of the Welsh Government and its 
sponsored and related public bodies, the Assembly Commission and National Health Service bodies in Wales.

The Auditor General and staff of the Wales Audit Office aim to provide public-focused and proportionate 
reporting on the stewardship of public resources and in the process provide insight and promote improvement.

We welcome correspondence and telephone calls in Welsh and English. Corresponding in Welsh will not lead to 
delay. Rydym yn croesawu gohebiaeth a galwadau ffôn yn Gymraeg a Saesneg. Ni fydd gohebu yn Gymraeg yn 
arwain at oedi.

This document is also available in Welsh.

This Annual Improvement Report has been prepared on behalf of the Auditor General for Wales 
by Huw Rees, Nick Selwyn, Tim Buckle, John Roberts, Steve Frank and Katherine Simmons 

under the direction of Jane Holownia.

Huw Vaughan Thomas
Auditor General for Wales

Wales Audit Office
24 Cathedral Road

Cardiff
CF11 9LJ

Page 2



Annual Improvement Report 2016-17 – Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 3

Contents

 Summary report 

2016-17 performance audit work 4

The Authority is meeting its statutory requirements in relation  
to continuous improvement 4

Recommendations and proposals for improvement 5

Audit, regulatory and inspection work reported during 2016-17 6

 Appendices

Appendix 1 – Status of this report 8

Appendix 2 – Annual Audit Letter 9

Page 3



Annual Improvement Report 2016-17 – Brecon Beacons National Park Authority4

2016-17 performance audit work
1 In determining the breadth of work undertaken during the year, 

we considered the extent of accumulated audit and inspection 
knowledge as well as other available sources of information including 
Brecon Beacons National Park Authority’s (the Authority) own 
mechanisms for review and evaluation. For 2016-17, we undertook 
improvement assessment work at all authorities under three themes: 
governance, use of resources, and improvement planning and 
reporting. At some authorities, we supplemented this work with local 
risk-based audits, identified in the Audit Plan for 2016-17. 

2 The work carried out since the last Annual Improvement Report (AIR) 
is set out in Exhibit 1.

The Authority is meeting its statutory requirements in 
relation to continuous improvement
3 Based on, and limited to, the work carried out by the Wales Audit 

Office and relevant regulators, the Auditor General believes that 
the Authority is likely to comply with the requirements of the Local 
Government Measure (2009) (the Measure) during 2017-18.

Summary report

Page 4



Annual Improvement Report 2016-17 – Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 5

Recommendations and proposals for improvement
4 Given the wide range of services provided by the Authority and the 

challenges it is facing, it would be unusual if we did not find things 
that can be improved. The Auditor General is able to:

• make proposals for improvement – if proposals are made to the 
Authority, we would expect it to do something about them and we 
will follow up what happens;

• make formal recommendations for improvement – if a formal 
recommendation is made, the Authority must prepare a response 
to that recommendation within 30 working days;

• conduct a special inspection, and publish a report and make 
recommendations; and

• recommend to ministers of the Welsh Government that they 
intervene in some way.

5 During the course of the year, the Auditor General did not make 
any formal recommendations. However, a number of proposals 
for improvement have been made and these are repeated in 
this report. We will monitor progress against them and relevant 
recommendations made in our national reports as part of our 
improvement assessment work.

Page 5



Annual Improvement Report 2016-17 – Brecon Beacons National Park Authority6

Issue date Brief description Conclusions Proposals for 
improvement

Governance

May 2017 Governance Review 
– Phase I
First in a series 
of reviews of the 
Authority’s governance 
arrangements in 
the context of the 
Well-being of Future 
Generations Act  
(WFG Act).

We produced a position statement 
collating perspectives on 
governance, arising from member 
and staff surveys, survey analysis 
and workshops. Our findings from 
the governance review were:
• Authority members and staff 

recognise the importance of 
good and effective governance 
arrangements within the 
Authority and the vast majority 
agree or strongly agree that 
they understand the values 
and behaviours they are 
expected to display; and

• the Authority has well 
established governance 
arrangements and there is 
broad agreement amongst 
Authority members and staff 
on the strengths of current 
practice and areas for 
improvement;

• improving communication 
internally and externally is 
recognised as an ongoing 
priority; and

• members and staff recognise 
there are further opportunities 
to build collaborate with other 
National Park Authorities 
and strongly support shared 
learning.

P1 To support a culture 
of openness and 
transparency we 
recommend that the 
Authority communicate 
the key findings of the 
surveys and share the 
survey results with 
Authority members  
and staff.

P2  To strengthen 
governance 
arrangements and 
improve Authority 
decision making and 
service delivery we 
recommend that the 
Authority integrate 
its response to the 
findings of the surveys 
and workshops into its 
future governance work 
to support delivery 
of its responsibilities 
under the Well-being 
of Future Generations 
(Wales) Act 2015.

Exhibit 1: audit, regulatory and inspection work reported during 2016-17
Summary of the work carried out since the last AIR, including that of the relevant regulators, 
where relevant.

Audit, regulatory and inspection work reported during 2016-17

Page 6



Annual Improvement Report 2016-17 – Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 7

Issue date Brief description Conclusions Proposals for 
improvement

Use of resources

November 
2016

Annual audit letter 
2015-16
Letter summarising the 
key messages arising 
from the Auditor 
General’s statutory 
responsibilities under 
the Public Audit 
(Wales) Act 2004 
and his reporting 
responsibilities under 
the Code of Audit 
Practice. The Annual 
Audit Letter is in 
Appendix 2 of this 
report.

• The Authority complied with 
its responsibilities relating to 
financial reporting and use of 
resources.

• The Auditor General issued an 
unqualified audit opinion on 28 
September 2016.

• The Auditor General is 
satisfied that the Authority has 
appropriate arrangements 
in place to secure economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in 
its use of resources.

None

Improvement planning and reporting

August 2016 Wales Audit Office 
annual improvement 
plan audit
Review of the 
Authority’s published 
plans for delivering 
on improvement 
objectives.

The Authority has complied with 
its statutory improvement planning 
duties.

None

December 
2016

Wales Audit Office 
annual assessment 
of performance audit 
Review of the 
Authority’s published 
performance 
assessment.

The Authority has complied 
with its statutory improvement 
reporting duties.

None

Reviews by inspection and regulation bodies

No reviews by inspection and regulation bodies have taken place during the time period covered in this report.

Page 7



Annual Improvement Report 2016-17 – Brecon Beacons National Park Authority8

Appendix 1

Status of this report
The Measure 2009 requires the Auditor General to undertake a forward-
looking annual improvement assessment, and to publish an AIR, for each 
improvement authority in Wales. Improvement authorities (defined as local 
councils, national parks, and fire and rescue authorities) have a general 
duty to ‘make arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the 
exercise of [their] functions’.

The annual improvement assessment considers the likelihood that 
an authority will comply with its duty to make arrangements to secure 
continuous improvement. The assessment is also the main piece of work 
that enables the Auditor General to fulfil his duties. Staff of the Wales 
Audit Office, on behalf of the Auditor General, produce the AIR. The report 
discharges the Auditor General’s duties under section 24 of the Measure, 
by summarising his audit and assessment work in a published AIR for each 
authority. The report also discharges his duties (under section 19) to issue 
a report certifying that he has carried out an improvement assessment 
(under section 18) and stating whether, as a result of his improvement plan 
audit (under section 17), he believes that the authority has discharged its 
improvement planning duties (under section 15).

The Auditor General may also, in some circumstances, carry out special 
inspections (under section 21), which will be reported to the authority and 
Ministers, and which he may publish (under section 22). An important 
ancillary activity for the Auditor General is the co-ordination of assessment 
and regulatory work (required by section 23), which takes into consideration 
the overall programme of work of all relevant regulators at an improvement 
authority. The Auditor General may also take account of information shared 
by relevant regulators (under section 33) in his assessments.

Page 8



Annual Improvement Report 2016-17 – Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 9

Appendix 2

Annual Audit Letter 

John Cook
Brecon Beacons National Park Authority
Plas y Ffynnon 
Cambrian Way
Brecon
Powys
LD3 7H

30 November 2016

Dear John 

Annual Audit Letter Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 2015-16

This letter summarises the key messages arising from my statutory responsibilities under  
the Public Audit (Wales) Act 2004 and my reporting responsibilities under the Code of  
Audit Practice.

The Authority complied with its responsibilities relating to financial reporting and use of 
resources.

It is the Authority’s responsibility to:

• put systems of internal control in place to ensure the regularity and lawfulness  
of transactions and to ensure that its assets are secure; 

• maintain proper accounting records;

• prepare a Statement of Accounts in accordance with relevant requirements; and

• establish and keep under review appropriate arrangements to secure economy,  
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.

The Public Audit (Wales) Act 2004 requires me to:

• provide an audit opinion on the accounting statements;

• review the Authority’s arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness  
in its use of resources; and

• issue a certificate confirming that I have completed the audit of the accounts.

Page 9



Annual Improvement Report 2016-17 – Brecon Beacons National Park Authority10

I issued an unqualified audit opinion on 28 September 2016 

Local authorities in Wales prepare their accounting statements in accordance with the 
requirements of the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the 
United Kingdom. This code is based on International Financial Reporting Standards. On 28 
September 2016 I issued an unqualified audit opinion on the accounting statements confirming 
that they present a true and fair view of the Authority’s financial position and transactions. My 
report is contained within the Statement of Accounts. The key matters arising from the accounts 
audit were reported to members of the Authority in my Audit of Financial Statements report on 
the 23 September 2016.

I am satisfied that the Authority has appropriate arrangements in place to secure economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources

My consideration of the Authority’s arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness has been based on the audit work undertaken on the accounts as well as placing 
reliance on the work completed under the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2009. The 
Auditor General highlights areas where the effectiveness of these arrangements has yet to 
be demonstrated or where improvements could be made in his Annual Improvement Report. 
He published the 2016 report on 19 October 2016. Although no formal recommendations for 
improvement were made, the Auditor General highlighted two proposals for improvement in 
relation to strategic collaboration/partnership working and the priorities for planning services.

I issued a certificate confirming that the audit of the accounts has been completed on  
28 September 2016

I received no electors’ questions or objections in relation to the 2015-16 audit. Having given 
an audit opinion on the financial statements and concluded on the Authority’s arrangements to 
secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources, I was able to certify that 
the audit was complete when I issued my audit opinion. 

The financial audit fee for 2015-16 is currently expected to be broadly in line with the agreed fee 
set out in the Annual Audit Plan.

 

Yours sincerely

Richard Harries
For and on behalf of the Auditor General for Wales

Page 10



Wales Audit Office

24 Cathedral Road

Cardiff CF11 9LJ

Tel: 029 2032 0500

Fax: 029 2032 0600

Textphone: 029 2032 0660

E-mail: info@audit.wales

Website: www.audit.wales

Swyddfa Archwilio Cymru

24 Heol y Gadeirlan

Caerdydd CF11 9LJ

Ffôn: 029 2032 0500

Ffacs: 029 2032 0600

Ffôn Testun: 029 2032 0660

E-bost: post@archwilio.cymru

Gwefan: www.archwilio.cymru

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
Brecon Beacons National Park 

National Park Authority 1 28 July 2017 

 

 

MINUTES OF BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY NATIONAL 

PARK AUTHORITY HELD AT CONFERENCE ROOM, PLAS Y FFYNNON, 

CAMBRIAN WAY, BRECON LD3 7HP ON FRIDAY, 28TH JULY, 2017 
 

 

 

PRESENT: 

 

Powys 

 

Cllr M Jones, Cllr D Meredith, Cllr Phil Pritchard, Cllr K Laurie-Parry, Cllr E Durrant, Cllr Ratcliffe 

and Cllr E Roderick 

 

Monmouthshire 

 

Cllr A Webb and Cllr M Feakins 
 

Carmarthenshire 

 

Cllr A James 

 

Merthyr Tydfil 

 

 

 

Rhondda Cynon Taff 

 

Cllr G Thomas 

 

Torfaen 

 

Cllr G Davies 

 

Members appointed by the Welsh Government 

 

Mrs Melanie Doel (Chairman), Mr Edward Evans, Prof Alan Lovell, Mr Ian Rowat, Mr James 

Marsden, Ms Deborah Perkin and Mr Julian Stedman 

 

In Attendance 

 

Angharad HawkesMr John Cook, Chief Executive 

Mr Julian Atkins, Director of Countryside 

Mr Christopher Morgan, Director of Planning 

Mr John Parsons, Deputy Monitoring Officer 

Elaine Standen, Finance Manager 

Mrs Julia Gruffydd, Democratic Services Manager 
Mr Paul Funnell, IT and Systems Manager 

 

Apologies 

Page 13

Agenda Item 3



  
Brecon Beacons National Park 

National Park Authority 2 28 July 2017 

 

Cllr G Davies and Cllr S Lewis 

 

 

83/15 Correspondence  

 

The Chairman welcomed members, officers and the public to the meeting.  She also 

welcomed Deryck Evans from the Wales Audit Office and thanked John Parsons, the 

Authority’s Deputy Monitoring Officer, for attending the meeting. 

  

Apologies were noted. 

  

  

 

84/15 Declarations of Interest  

 

No declarations of interest were made. 

  

 

85/15 Minutes  

 

It was noted that Cllr John Hill had been present at the Authority meeting on 19 June 
2017. 

  

RESOLVED:   

  

1.    That the minutes of the Brecon Beacons National 

Park Authority meeting held on 19 June 2017, as 

amended, be approved and the Chairman authorised 

to sign them as a correct record. 

  

2.    That the minutes of the Brecon Beacons National 

Park Authority meeting held on 30 June 2017 be 

approved and the Chairman authorised to sign them 

as a correct record. 

  

  

  

 

86/15 Public Speaking  

 

There were no requests to speak. 

  

 

87/15 Chairman's Announcements  

 

The Chairman reported on meetings and events she had attended on behalf of the 

Authority since the last meeting and thanked those members who had stood in for her 

during her recent illness.  She reminded members of the 60
th

 anniversary of the National 

Park this year and the picnics in the Park due to take place on 30 July at the National Park 

Visitor Centre and Craig-y-nos Country Park. 

Page 14



  
Brecon Beacons National Park 

National Park Authority 3 28 July 2017 

 

  

 

88/15 Chief Executive's Announcements  

 

The Chief Executive reported on meetings and events since the last meeting.  He 

highlighted the work being done by the Chief Executives of the UK National Parks to 

better focus on priorities and review ways of working.  He also updated members on the 

work being done under Future Landscapes where six key areas had been identified:  

working beyond boundaries, performance framework, resources, ecosystem resilience, 

economic benefit and legislation. A meeting was now being sought with the Cabinet 

Secretary to clarify what the Welsh Government was hoping to achieve from the 

programme.  At the request of the Audit and Scrutiny Committee a letter had been sent 

to the Wales Audit Office to express concerns on timeliness and costs.  A meeting had 

taken place to discuss the WAO pilot study on compliance with the Wellbeing of Future 

Generations Act.  The Get into Rural Skils programme, delivered in partnership with the 

Princes Trust, had been selected as the pilot project to develop an approach to auditing. 

  

The Director of Countryside and Land Management was pleased to report that the 

Authority’s Afon Clydach hydro scheme had passed all of its electrical tests and was now 

operational.  There were some finishing off works to complete but the scheme will be 

formally registered for Feed in Tariffs and export shortly.  He paid tribute to warden Wyn 
Morgan who had acted as Ecological Clerk of Works on the scheme and to Helen 

Roderick who had been project manager and had acquired much detailed and specialist 

knowledge in the process of delivering the scheme. The Chief Executive advised that this 

was an exemplar scheme which could demonstrate how such schemes could be delivered 

in sensitive areas. 

  

Officers had also held a preliminary discussion on the concept of the scheme contributing 

to an energy local initiative in the locality in future. 

  

The Chairman thanked all the staff who had worked hard to achieve this.   Members 

welcomed the news and asked for a more detailed briefing to a future meeting, to include 

detail on cost/benefit and ongoing maintenance costs, and a site visit at a later stage.  A 

concern was raised about the anerobic digester scheme which was noted by officers in 

relation to the energy local idea.  The Agriculture and Land Management Champion 

commented that any future schemes might be revised and simplified in terms of process, 

which had been a complex one for a small authority.  The Chief Executive agreed and said 

that the process could be written up as one for a sensitive area, although other sites 

might not require such complexity. 

  

 

89/15 CEO Recruitment  

 

The Chief Executive reported on the meeting of the Appointments Committee held on 10 

July 2017 where the recruitment process, job description and job pack, and the 

advertisement had been agreed.  Professional advice was being provided by 

Carmarthenshire County Council under the service level agreement for human 

resources.  The timetable was noted and the Chairman asked that this be circulated to 

staff. 

  

Page 15



  
Brecon Beacons National Park 

National Park Authority 4 28 July 2017 

 

 

90/15 Approval of 2016/17 Statement of Accounts  

 

The Finance Manager presented the draft Statement of Accounts for 2016/17 and thanked 

the Wales Audit Office for meeting the committee deadline.  She highlighted the changes 

in the accounts to reflect the additional funding from Welsh Government at the end of 

the financial year. 

  

Mr Evans from the Wales Audit Office presented the ISA260 report. The Auditor General 

intends to issue an unqualified audit report on the financial statements.  The change in 

accounting deadlines had provided a challenge in carrying out the audit.  He would be 

working further with officers to reduce some of the complexity of the process in future.  

He advised that audit fees had been reduced by 20% and a further review would be done. 

  

RESOLVED:  That Members approve the Statement of 

Accounts for 2016/17 and note the contents of the 

Auditor General for Wales’ Report. 

  

 

91/15 Establishment of Local Access Forum Appointments Panel  

 
Members considered proposals to establish a selection panel to recruit and select 

members of the Local Access Forum.  Draft terms of reference were tabled and if 

approved would be added to the Authority’s Terms of Reference and Scheme of 

Delegation.  The Director of Countryside and Land Management advised that the process 

was not a job interview process but a selection of interested people who would act in an 

individual capacity to advise on access and rights of way matters .  He added that the 

terms of reference were worded to take account of any potential changes in the length of 

office for LAF members and also any future changes in Member Champion roles.  In 

response to a question from a member he would circulate a link to the terms of 

reference as set out in the Local Access Forum guidance. 

  

RESOLVED:  That: 

  

a) A standing Local Access Forum selection panel is 

established comprising the Chair and Deputy Chair of 

PAROW, the Health and Well Being Champion, and 

the Agriculture and Land Management Champion to 

appoint members to the Brecon Beacons National Park 

Local Access Forum; 

  

b) Should there be any changes in future to Member 

Champion roles that Member Champion 

representation on the Panel comprise the two roles 

which match closest to access and recreational and 

agriculture and land management topic areas; 

  

c) The Director of Countryside and Land Management 

should continue to be the Brecon Beacons National 

Page 16



  
Brecon Beacons National Park 

National Park Authority 5 28 July 2017 

 

Park Authority appointment to the Local Access 

Forum for the reasons set out in the report. 

  

d) The Director of Countryside and Land Management 

oversees the recruitment process and provides advice 

to the panel as necessary regarding external 

applications for membership; 

  

e) The tabled terms of reference be approved and added 

to the Authority’s Terms of Reference and Scheme of 

Delegation. 

  

 

92/15 SDF Approval over £30,000  

 

Members considered two Sustainable Development Fund grant applications in excess of 

£30,000 each which required an Authority decision. 

  

In relation to proposals from the Chamber of Trade for a Brecon Town Manager post to 

be partially funded by SDF, members were supportive of the potential benefits of the post, 

particularly for economic and heritage reasons, but had some concern over the 
sustainability of the post and what outcomes were anticipated.  The SDF Officer advised 

that this was a two year stand-alone post and that if it were to prove beneficial it would 

be for the Chamber of Trade to consider how to fund the post in future.  The Chief 

Executive felt that the grant would pump prime the post but this was necessary to 

facilitate discussion.  In response to the query about outcomes he advised that there had 

been involvement from the Chamber of Trade with the town plan, and that there were 

always risks with grant funded projects. 

  

Members then considered a proposal to fund an apprentice scheme at Big Pit, Blaenavon, 

which would provide some succession planning for when the current miner guides 

retired.  There was a wide ranging debate which raised issues of whether car parking fees 

could fund the posts and whether the SDF should be funding public bodies such as the 

applicant body.  It was noted that parking fees were reallocated across all five National 

Museums in Wales locations.  Officers advised that the Authority itself had applied to the 

SDF and that the National Museum of Wales was already funding two apprentices.  The 

scheme had scored highly against the priorities of the SDF.  Concern was also expressed 

that the apprentices might not stay with the organisation after training, but that was 

acknowledged to be a risk with any apprenticeship, and the Authority would have helped 

to make young people more employable.  Considerable support was expressed for the Big 

Pit site, which one member described as a showcase for the species of mankind as well as 

for Wales.  The museum faced a unique set of circumstances with the retirement of 

former miners.  In response to a comment about whether schemes outside the Park 

should be funded, the Director of Countryside and Land Management noted the 

contribution of Big Pit to the Blaenavon World Heritage Site which abuts the National 

Park, and its connections with the Forgotten Landscapes Project area and linkages to the 

Monmouthshire and Brecon Canal.  The application should be seen in a holistic context of 

cultural heritage, historic upland landscapes and tourism. 

  

Page 17



  
Brecon Beacons National Park 

National Park Authority 6 28 July 2017 

 

The member for Torfaen recognised the difficulty of his dual role as a member of a local 

authority and of the Park Authority and said that as he still had some concerns he 

intended to abstain. 

  

It was suggested that the apprentices be asked to make a presentation to the Authority at 

the end of their training. 

  

RESOLVED: 

  

a)  To approve the Sustainable Development Fund 

application for  £35,000 over two years to fund the post 

of Brecon Town Manager; 

  

b) To approve the Sustainable Development Fund 

application for £67,684 over four financial years for 

training two apprentices at Big Pit, Blaenavon.  

  

 

93/15 Member Champion Reports  

 

The Heritage Champion circulated an updated programme for the Heritage Day in Brecon 
on 15 October 2017, which the Chairman had agreed to open and chair.  It was an event 

for the Authority’s 60
th

 anniversary and for partners.  He thanked former member Martin 

Buckle for his work on this event, and advised that the draft Heritage Strategy was due to 

be considered by the Authority in September. 

  

Cllr David Meredith left the meeting at this point. 

  

 

94/15 Member Reports  

 

The Chairman thanked members who had attended events at the Royal Welsh Show. 

  

 

95/15 Gifts & Hospitality  

 

The Chairman declared hospitality received from Western Power Distribution at the 

Royal Welsh Show. 

  

 

96/15 Presentation from Director of National Parks UK  

 

The Chairman welcomed Ms Kathryn Cook, Director of National Parks UK who gave a 

presentation on the work of the organisation, including member induction, working 

together at member and officer level, and also the new partnership with clothing provider 

Columbia. 

  

A member welcomed the joint working and felt that National Parks were indeed ‘stronger 

together’. 

  

Page 18



  
Brecon Beacons National Park 

National Park Authority 7 28 July 2017 

 

A member felt that there was an uneven emphasis on the second purpose of National 

Parks, enjoyment, and very little in the presentation about the first purpose of 

conservation.  It was his view that the four priorities for NPUK were post Brexit and the 

issue of upland management, payment for ecosystems, ending raptor persecution and 

working together on common issues.  He felt the message should be changed.  The 

Director explained that some of these issues were very political and were therefore 

outside the remit of the organisation. 

  

The Chairman thanked Ms Cook for her excellent and informative presentation, and  

invited her to stay for lunch where she could chat informally with members. 

  

  

 

97/15 Any Other Business  

 

There was no further business.  The Chairman thanked all for attending. 

  
 

 

 

 

Signed as a correct record 

Chairman of the National Park Authority 

 

 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Committee Timetable 2018 

 

Name of 

Committee 

 National Park Authority 

Date 

 

22 September 2017 

Report Author  

Julia Gruffydd 

Job title 

 

Democratic Services Manager 

Contact Details 01874 620400 / Julia.gruffydd@beacons-npa.gov.uk 

 

Purpose of Report To seek approval of the Authority’s committee timetable for 

2018 

 

Single Integrated 

Assessment 
Not applicable 

List of  Enclosures Draft Timetable 

Public Interest Test Not applicable 

Recommendations a) That the frequency of Planning, Access and 

Rights of Way Committee meetings be 

reduced from every six weeks to every eight 

weeks from January 2018 and the Terms of 

Reference and Scheme of Delegation amended 

accordingly; 

b) That the Authority’s Committee Timetable for 

2018 be approved and published 

 

 

1.1 Introduction or Background 

  

With seven constituent authorities the Authority has a challenge in avoiding clashes in 

its meeting timetable.  Whilst it is impossible to avoid all conflicts the Authority 
routinely avoids the known full council meeting days and times of other authorities.  The 

draft timetable has been circulated to members and no responses have been received.  

The timetable was considered by the Governance and Member Development Working 

Page 21

Agenda Item 7



Group on 11 September and minor changes made to the July and November NPA 

dates.. 

 

1.2 Proposals 

 

Following a recent Planning Management Team meeting a proposal has been made that 

the Authority consider changing the cycle of the Planning, Access and Rights of Way 

Committee to every eight weeks rather than the current six week cycle.  This is based 

on the reduction of non-delegated items on the PAROW agenda.  The change would 

result in a reduction of two meetings per annum, from nine to seven meetings with 

associated savings in member and officer time and improved operational effectiveness, 

allowing more time for delivery of public good.  

 

Perhaps most importantly, it is not anticipated that the change will affect performance 

given that most decisions are delegated, and those that do need to go to Committee 

have normally had an extension of time negotiated.  Planning policy will continue to be 
the remit of the National Park Authority, including the Local Development Plan and 

Supplementary Planning Guidance. 

 

The Governance and Member Development Working Group considered the proposal 

on 11 September and recommended this to the Authority. 

 

1.3 Implications 

 

A reduction in the number of meetings would result in efficiency savings as outlined 

above and make more effective use of member and officer time.   

1.4 Risk 

 

The change will need to be communicated to the public, agents, statutory consultees 

and applicants to avoid any adverse reputational impact. 

 

1.5 Conclusion 

 

Members are asked to review the timetable and the proposals outlined above in relation 

to frequency of PAROW meetings. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

  

a) That the frequency of Planning, Access and Rights of Way Committee 

meetings be reduced from every six weeks to every eight weeks from 

Page 22



January 2018 and the Terms of Reference and Scheme of Delegation 

amended accordingly; 

b) That the Authority’s Committee Timetable for 2018 be approved and 

published 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



1st - Mon 1st - Thur 1st - Thur

2nd - Tue 2nd - Fri 2nd - Fri

3rd - Wed 3rd - Sat 3rd - Sat

4th - Thur 4th - Sun 4th - Sun

5th - Fri 5th - Mon 5th - Mon

6th - Sat 6th - Tue 6th - Tue

Pre Parow - 9am

PAROW - 10am

7th - Sun 7th - Wed 7th - Wed

8th - Mon 8th - Thur 8th - Thur

9th - Tue 9th - Fri 9th - Fri

10th - Wed 10th - Sat 10th - Sat

11th - Thur 11th - Sun 11th - Sun

12th - Fri 12th - Mon 12th - Mon Planning Training

13th - Sat 13th - Tue 13th - Tue

14th - Sun 14th - Wed 14th - Wed

15th - Mon 15th - Thur 15th - Thur

16th - Tue 16th - Fri 16th - Fri

17th - Wed 17th - Sat 17th - Sat

18th - Thur 18th - Sun 18th - Sun

19th - Fri 19th - Mon 19th - Mon

20th - Sat 20th - Tue 20th - Tue SUGGESTED 8 WEEK PAROW DATE

21st - Sun 21st - Wed 21st - Wed SDF

22nd - Mon 22nd - Thur 22nd - Thur
Management Team

23rd -Tue 23rd - Fri 23rd - Fri

Governance & Member Development 

WG - 10am

24th - Wed 24th - Sat 24th - Sat

25th - Thur 25th - Sun 25th - Sun

26th - Fri 26th - Mon 26th - Mon

27th - Sat 27th - Tue 27th - Tue

28th - Sun 28th - Wed 28th - Wed

29th - Mon 29th - Thur

30th - Tue 30th - Fri Good Friday

31st - Wed 31st - Sat

January February March

New Years Day

Bank Holiday

SUGGESTED 8 WEEK PAROW DATE            

Pre Parow - 9am / PAROW - 10am

Management Team

Audit & Scrutiny Committee 

(Budget/Q3) - 10am

SDF

National Park Authority (Levy & 

Budget) - 10am

Management Team

Member Training

Governance & Member Development 

WG - 10am

Training / LDP Working Group

P
age 25



1st - Sun 1st - Tue 1st - Fri

2nd - Mon 2nd - Wed 2nd - Sat

3rd - Tue 3rd - Thur 3rd - Sun

4th - Wed 4th - Fri 4th - Mon

5th - Thur 5th - Sat 5th - Tue

Pre Parow - 9am

PAROW - 10am

6th - Fri 6th - Sun 6th - Wed

7th - Sat 7th - Mon 7th - Thur

8th - Sun 8th - Tue 8th - Fri

9th - Mon 9th - Wed 9th - Sat

10th - Tue 10th - Thur 10th - Sun

11th - Wed 11th - Fri 11th - Mon Training

12th - Thur 12th - Sat 12th - Tue

13th - Fri 13th - Sun 13th - Wed

14th - Sat 14th - Mon 14th - Thur

15th - Sun 15th - Tue 15th - Fri

Governance & Member Development 

WG (AGS)

16th - Mon 16th - Wed 16th - Sat

17th - Tue 17th - Thur 17th - Sun

18th - Wed 18th - Fri 18th - Mon

19th - Thur 19th - Sat 19th - Tue

20th - Fri 20th - Sun 20th - Wed

21st - Sat 21st - Mon 21st - Thur Management Team

22nd - Sun 22nd - Tue 22nd - Fri
National Park Authority - 10am

23rd - Mon 23rd - Wed 23rd - Sat

24th - Tue 24th - Thur 24th - Sun

25th - Wed 25th - Fri 25th - Mon

26th - Thur 26th - Sat 26th - Tue

27th - Fri 27th - Sun 27th - Wed
SDF

28th - Sat 28th - Mon 28th - Thur

29th - Sun 29th - Tue 29th - Fri

30th - Mon 30th - Wed 30th - Sat

31st - Thur

JuneApril May

Easter Monday

Bank Holiday

Management Plan

Management Team

Meithrin Mynydd - 19.30

Pre Parow - 9am

PAROW - 10am

Bank Holiday

National Park Authority - 10am

Audit & Scrutiny (Audit Reports)

Management Team

Training / LDP Working Group

SUGGESTED 8 WK PAROW DATE

P
age 26



1st - Sun 1st - Wed 1st - Sat

2nd - Mon 2nd - Thur 2nd - Sun

3rd - Tue 3rd - Fri 3rd - Mon

4th - Wed 4th - Sat Eisteddfod (Cardiff) 4th - Tue SUGGESTED 8 WK PAROW DATE

5th - Thur 5th - Sun Eisteddfod (Cardiff) 5th - Wed

6th - Fri 6th - Mon

Eisteddfod 

(Cardiff) 6th - Thur

7th - Sat 7th - Tue
Eisteddfod Cardiff

7th - Fri

Governance & Member Development WG

8th - Sun 8th - Wed Eisteddfod Cardiff 8th - Sat

9th - Mon 9th - Thur Eisteddfod Cardiff 9th - Sun

10th - Tue 10th - Fri

Eisteddfod 

Cardiff 10th - Mon
Planning Training

11th - Wed 11th - Sat
Eisteddfod Cardiff

11th - Tue

12th - Thur 12th - Sun 12th - Wed SDF

13th - Fri 13th - Mon 13th - Thur
14th - Sat 14th - Tue 14th - Fri Future Directions Forum

15th - Sun 15th - Wed 15th - Sat

16th - Mon 16th - Thur 16th - Sun

17th - Tue 17th - Fri 17th - Mon

18th - Wed 18th - Sat 18th - Tue

19th - Thur 19th - Sun 19th - Wed

20th - Fri 20th - Mon 20th - Thur

21st - Sat 21st - Tue 21st - Fri National Park Authority - 10am

22nd - Sun 22nd - Wed 22nd - Sat

23rd - Mon 23rd - Thur 23rd - Sun

24th - Tue 24th - Fri 24th - Mon

25th - Wed 25th - Sat 25th - Tue

26th - Thur 26th - Sun 26th - Wed

27th - Fri 27th - Mon 27th - Thur Management Team

28th - Sat 28th - Tue 28th - Fri

29th - Sun 29th - Wed 29th - Sat

30th - Mon National Park Authority AGM (Accts) 30th - Thur 30th - Sun

31st - Tue 31st - Fri

July August September

Eisteddfod (Cardiff)

Pre Parow - 9am

PAROW - 10am

Member Training

SUGGESTED 8 WK PAROW DATE

LDP Working GroupAudit & Scrutiny (Q1 & Q4) 

Royal Welsh Show
Royal Welsh Show / Management 

Team

Royal Welsh Show Management Team

Royal Welsh Show

Management Team

Bank Holiday

Pre Parow - 9am / PAROW - 10am

P
age 27



1st - Mon 1st - Thur 1st - Sat

2nd - Tue 2nd - Fri National Park Authority - 10am 2nd - Sun

3rd - Wed 3rd - Sat 3rd - Mon

4th - Thur 4th - Sun 4th - Tue

5th - Fri 5th - Mon 5th - Wed

6th - Sat 6th - Tue 6th - Thur

7th - Sun 7th - Wed 7th - Fri

8th - Mon 8th - Thur 8th - Sat

9th - Tue 9th - Fri 9th - Sun

10th - Wed 10th - Sat 10th - Mon

11th - Thur 11th - Sun 11th - Tue

12th - Fri 12th - Mon 12th - Wed

13th - Sat 13th - Tue 13th - Thur Management Team

14th - Sun 14th - Wed 14th - Fri National Park Authority - 10 am

15th - Mon 15th - Thur 15th - Sat

16th - Tue 16th - Fri 16th - Sun

17th - Wed 17th - Sat 17th - Mon

18th - Thur 18th - Sun 18th - Tue

SUGGESTED 8 WK PAROW DATE              

Pre Parow - 9am

PAROW - 10am

19th - Fri 19th - Mon 19th - Wed

20th - Sat 20th - Tue 20th - Thur

21st - Sun 21st - Wed 21st - Fri

22nd - Mon 22nd - Thur Management Team 22nd - Sat

23rd - Tue 23rd - Fri 23rd - Sun

24th - Wed 24th - Sat 24th - Mon

25th - Thur Management Team 25th - Sun 25th - Tue Christmas Day

26th - Fri Audit & Scrutiny Committee (Q2) 26th - Mon 26th - Wed Boxing Day

27th - Sat 27th - Tue 27th - Thur

28th - Sun 28th - Wed 28th - Fri

29th - Mon 29th - Thur 29th - Sat

30th - Tue 30th - Fri 30th - Sun

31st - Wed 31st - Mon

NB - PAROW MEETING 2019  = Pre-PAROW  and PAROW Meeting 12th February 2019

October November December

Training / LDP Working Group

Pre Parow - 9am

PAROW - 10am

Training

Meithrin Mynydd - 19.30

Pre Parow - 9am / PAROW - 10am

Management Plan

SDF

SUGGESTED 8 WK PAROW DATE

Governance & Member 

Development WG

P
age 28



 

Feedback from Exit Interviews 

 

Name of 

Committee 

National Park Authority  

Date 

 

22 September 2017 

Report Author  

Julia Gruffydd 

Job title 

 

Democratic Services Manager  

Contact Details  

01874 620400 

julia.gruffydd@beacons-npa.gov.uk  

Purpose of Report To report feedback from those members who left the 

Authority after the local government elections and to 

approve changes to the exit interview policy 

 

Single Integrated 

Assessment 
Not applicable 

List of  Enclosures Enclosure 1: Proposed changes to Member Exit 

Interview Policy 

Enclosure 2:  Exit Interview form 

Public Interest Test Not applicable 

Recommendations a) That the proposed changes to the Exit Interview 

Policy be approved as set out in Enclosure 1 to 

the report; 

b) To note feedback from Exit Interviews held in 

2017 and endorse the Working Group’s intention 

to review the information presented to members 

on Authority and Committee agendas. 

 

 

 

Page 29

Agenda Item 8

mailto:julia.gruffydd@beacons-npa.gov.uk


1. Introduction 

All members leaving the Authority are asked to undertake an Exit Interview, whether they are 

completing their term of office, not standing for re-election, retiring, or for any other personal 

reason.  It is not mandatory but members are encouraged to give feedback in order that 

member support can be reviewed and improved based on recent experiences.  The process can 

also highlight more general issues relating to the governance of the Authority, which can be 

equally helpful. 

2. Members Exit Policy 

 

The Exit Policy has not been reviewed in detail since 2009 and is presented to the Authority 

with some amendments, although generally the document is still felt to be relevant without 

major changes, subject to members’ views.  Members’ views are welcomed on whether this 

policy needs further amendments.  The exit interview form was reviewed by the Governance 

and Member Development Working Group and some changes suggested, which have been 

made. 

 
3. Feedback from Recent Exit Interviews 

 

Since the beginning of the year one member has completed her maximum term of office as a 

Welsh Government appointed member and five local authority appointed members advised 

that they did not intend to stand in the local government elections on 4 May 2017. 

 

Of those six members four have completed the exit interview forms, had their interviews and 

feedback has been given to Democratic Services.  One member has had an exit interview but 

apart from saying what a positive experience his membership had been, did not offer further 

feedback.  One member did not undertaken an exit interview to date. 

 

In addition three members lost their seats in the elections and one has completed an exit 

interview form although has not undertaken a formal exit interview with the Chairman. The 

remaining two have not yet completed exit interviews. 

 

Out of the five who responded, the following feedback has been noted: 

 

a) Member Development and Support 

 

Two put ‘adequate’ and three ‘excellent’.  One of the former comments was based on what 

was available when they first became a member 10 years ago. Other comments: 

 

 Improved massively over the years 

 Sometimes in danger of overdoing it after the first couple of years especially give the 

capacity of councillors – some repeats. 

 Some duplication with local authority development 

 Very useful to have planning refreshers and to view results of previous decisions 

through planning tours 

Page 30



 Programme second to none and is the envy of other Parks 

 

b) Admin arrangements 

 

 Three members reported ‘excellent’ and one ‘good’ 

 ‘Consummate professionalism’ of Democratic Services  

 

c) Communications  

 

 Democratic Services always swift to respond and to circulate information 

 Democratic Services have the best interests of the Park and members at heart 

 Information sent to members is always of top quality and complete. It is up to members 

how they interpret and use the information.   

 

d) Committee Arrangements 

 

 Quorum might be an issue going forward, particularly if the Authority reduces in size 

 Councillors sometimes have to prioritise various roles 

 Officers sometimes too verbose in their reporting – difficult to give all information the 

attention it deserves 

 Meetings are always structured and run most effectively, but of course that has a lot to 
do with the person chairing 

 Briefer reports needed with links to annexes if necessary 

 More use of images would be useful – not just in PAROW 

 Use of bullet points to convey key issues, or executive summary 

 Convinced that some members do not prepare for meetings because of the volume of 

information provided 

 Meetings are well planned with a clear purpose, effectively chaired and focused on 
decision making 

 Sufficient information is sent to members, ensuring that they have read or heard all the 

information relevant to the meeting 

 All members should remain on PAROW even if the Authority reduces in size 

 If planning were to be removed from NPAs they might as well not exist – more powers 

are needed rather than less 

 Cutting back the length of reports to a simple survey would make PAROW more 

efficient 

 
e) Member Involvement and Governance 

 

 We are a far more ‘hands on’ authority than many so with good member involvement  

 Members are more involved that they were 10 years ago 

 Pleased members are being involved in the appointment of a CEO – vital to get a new 
CEO with integrity and openness to avoid going backwards 

 Members have full access to all departments and officers when required 

 

Page 31



f) Areas where members do not receive sufficient information to act effectively 

 

 No – may have been the case in the past. 

 No 

 Audit and Scrutiny Committee – use of graphs, images, pie charts more user friendly 

than lots of text, although narrative is useful to explain a budget 

 Officers have an open door policy so information is always available 

 Library of documents online for members to access 

 

g) Member Champion role 

 

 Enabled me to move biodiversity up the agenda and into the consciousness of members 

and staff, particularly the planning department 

 Frustrating when champions do not fulfill their role as it is a very positive an valuable 

role which enables members to make a contribution over and above routine roles 

 Should be regarded as a active not passive role and an opportunity to promote aspects 
of our work 

 Mostly falls to Welsh Government appointed members 

 Important role of champions in promoting our work externally – a point to follow up 

 Current roles are relevant 

 No personal experience but it is an opportunity for members to get involved in specific 

areas of the Authority. 

 Champions promote and raise awareness of their area of interest and assist in the 
development of members in relation to their interest 

 

h) Code of Conduct/Declaration of Interests 

 

 Code could not be clearer and the reminders are useful to make a point more than 

anything else as other authorities may not behave in the same way as we do 

 Policies are in place but members have to comply 

 Important for new members with revision for older members – but a short reminder 

after a meeting rather than a half day session 

 Does no harm to be refreshed and keeps the Ombudsman at bay 

 System is sound but it is down to the openness of members 

 The examples used in the training gave a good general understanding of the code and 

how it applies. It helped members to understand their obligations under the code. 

 No changes needed 
 

i) Electronic Committee Management System (Modern.gov) 

 

 One member said ‘fine’, one could not use because of IT skills, and one said that it was 

excellent and made life a lot easier. 

 Excellent – I always had access to any materials I required 

 Notifications are prompt and the navigation bar is excellent.   

Page 32



 Magnification of font reverts when you change pages  

 An efficient way of accessing meeting papers, fairly easy to use, no longer needing to 
print and distribute lots of paper, allows secure access for members 

 

j) What Members enjoyed most about their role 

 

 A chance to move the Authority forward, particularly biodiversity, scrutiny and 

enforcement 

 Interaction with other Parks through conferences, workshops and training – helped us 
to share new ideas and ways of working 

 BBNPA has led the way in many areas 

 Would like to put on record how much the NPA owes John Cook – enormous 

gratitude for masterful planning, honesty and ability to lead from the front, plus genuine 

kindness which is so rare in a CEO.  Not a mean spirited bone in his body but has a 

backbone of steel and has made some very tough decisions 

 Working with residents of the Park – involvement with planning, SDF and affordable 

housing 

 Networking and visits to Pembrokeshire Coast and Snowdonia National Parks 

 Cachet about being a member 

 It was a pleasure to work with an organisation where the staff had a passion and 

enthusiasm for the aims and purposes of the National Park 

 The Authority is well organized and has staff who are friendly and helpful 

 It was like being part of a big family.  Everyone got on with each other – both members 

and staff.  A lovely environment to be part of. 

 

k) What was most difficult about the role 

 

 Amount of reading for NPA, ASC and PAROW 

 The move to an annual payment rather than per meeting 

 Pressure from public because you live in the Park – you are the front line, but it’s part of 
being an Authority member 

 It would be good to explain this to local authority and Welsh Government appointed 

members living outside the Park 

 Pressure from political group because of the system – you feel indebted to carry out the 
will of the party 

 My role as a member was not as effective as I would have liked due to lecturing three 

days a week (member could not attend PAROW meetings) and the workload as a 

borough councillor 

 Nothing 
 

l) Confidentiality 

 

 The only comment made under this heading was that the Authority needs to keep on 

top of members’ attendance and be firmer if there is no legitimate reason for absence 

 

Page 33



m) Keeping in Touch – all members chose one or more methods via which they wished 

to keep in touch with the Authority in future 

 

 Community newsletters  2 members 

 Press releases    3 members 

 CEO’s announcements  3 members 

 Information on volunteering  1 members 

 Information on the Park Society 0 members 

 Future development events  2 members 

 Providing mentoring in future  2 members 

 Scrutiny Reviews   1 members 

 Attending NPW seminars  3 members 

 

a) Other comments made to the interviewer 

 

 Happy to help with report writing and presentation training 

 Happy to help with planning induction and to speak to Affordable Housing Group 

 Meetings are very slick and professional and scripted because of the Chairman’s media 

knowledge, which has been an improvement 

 Good not to have AOB surprises 

 Need that level of control and governance to continue 

 Need to give explanation of going into exempt session – maybe the Monitoring Officer 

needs to say everything 

 Cannot improve on the Authority’s member support and corporate governance 

procedures 

4. Implications 

 

Feedback received is taken seriously and will be reported to the Management Team.  Requests 

to stay in touch have been advised to the relevant officers. 

 

The Governance and Member Development Working Group considered the feedback at their 

meeting on 11 September.  They noted the points made in relation to committee reports and 

the size of agendas, in particular to the Planning, Access and Rights of Way Committee, and the 

Chairman of the Working Group has asked that a meeting be arranged with the Chairman of 

PAROW and senior planning officers to consider the most effective way of presenting 

information to members.  Members are aware that this has been work in progress and this 

shows that there are still improvements we can make to ensure that members can easily access 

the information they need to make decisions. 

5. Risk 

 

The Authority has set the exit interview process in place in order to learn from members’ 

experience on the Authority and the suggestions and comments made should be carefully 
considered in order to refine and improve members support and governance. 

Page 34



6. Conclusion 

 

The working group recommended the changes to the exit interview policy and asked for 

Authority support in relation to the review of agendas. 

 

 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

a) That the proposed changes to the Exit Interview Policy be approved as set 

out in Enclosure 1 to the report; 

b) To note feedback from Exit Interviews held in 2017 and endorse the 

Working Group’s intention to review the information presented to members 

on Authority and Committee agendas. 

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



Members Exit Interviews Policy – March 2009May 2017 
 

Background 
 

The Authority has developed a range of policies and practices to support its members, as an 

integral part of working towardsachieving the Welsh Local Government Association’s “A Wales 

Charter for Member Support and Development”.  ” at the Basic and Advanced Level.  As 

Elected Local Authority  or Welsh Governmetnnt Appointed Members today you bring a range 

of expertise and experiences and face increasing challenges. Under the modernisation agenda, 

there are heightened expectations on you to undertake a diversity of roles, ranging from that of 

community leader, to special responsibilities within the Authority. In the Brecon Beacons 

National Park Authority we are striving to provide the best possible support for you to enable 

you to meet these challenges. This takes the form of skill and knowledge development, support 

facilities, and support services. 

 

What are Exit Interviews? 
 

During your time as a member of this Authority you had an induction and continuing 

development framework to help you develop your skills, knowledge and experiences.  This 

enabled you to carry out your role and in some cases, take on additional responsibilities such as 

chairing a committee or working group, or becoming a Member Champion. When a member 

leaves the Authority loses this skills base and it is helpful to seek his/her views on the role of 

member.   The interview itself is an opportunity for you to reflect on the challenges you have 

faced and overcome, or areas you found difficult, the support you have had, and what else the 

Authority could do to help members develop their role.  It is also an opportunity to capture 

any views you might have on the wider organisation and think about whether and how you 

might wish to remain involved in the work of the Authority.. 

 

The Exit Interview 

 
What is the purpose 

of the Exit Interview? 

 The Exit Interview is essentially an opportunity for you, as a Member of 

the Authority to get together with an experienced member or officer to 

discuss and reflect on your term of office with the Authority.The 

interview will provide you with an opportunity to focus on the following 

areas: 

 

1. Your role within the Authority, the support you have received, 

and any challenges that you have faced. 

 

2. What has gone well 

 

3. What has not gone well 

 

4. Any changes you would like to see considered 

 

5. Any particular problems you have faced as an local authority or 

Page 37



Welsh Assembly Government appointed member. 

  

5.6. How you wish to be involved in future 

 

The Exit Interview should be a free flowing,  constructive conversation in 

which a range of views are exchanged which are treated sensitively and, if 

desired, in confidence.  

 

   

Who will conduct 

the Interview 

 The Chairman of the Authority and/or the Chief Executive  

 

   

What do I need to 

do to prepare for the 

interview. 

 As with any review, the more time you can put aside to prepare the 

better.  Yours views are important to the organisation and may lead to 

improvements in the appointment process, member support, or any 

corporate governance issues.  

   

The interview itself  Time should be set aside without any distractions.  Book the room or 

agree the meeting place well in advance and put aside plenty of time to 

ensure that all aspects of the interview are covered and you are not 

pushed for time. 

 

It would be useful for you to complete the Exit Interview form and send 

it to the Chairman/Chief Executive in advance.  This gives the interviewer 

plenty of time to prepare for the review. 

 

It is important to remember that this is NOT a performance review; it is 

an opportunity to review your term of office and the role that you have 

played as a member.  Feedback must be appropriate and constructive. 

 

Please note that feedback  about any improvements may be passed on to 

your appointing Authority if it is relevant, subject to the confidentiality 

statement below. 

 

 

Confidentiality  You may wish to raise issues of a sensitive or difficult nature during your 

exit interview.  The interviewer will discuss with you ways in which your 

views can be passed on to the relevant members, officers or 

organisations without revealing your identity, if you request this. 

 

 

 

 

Formatted: List Paragraph, Left,  No bullets or numbering

Page 38



1 

 

 

 

Members Exit Questionnaire 
 

The purpose of this questionnaire is to enable the Authority to seek the views of 
members before they complete their term of office in order to identify any 

improvements to member support practices. 

 

Appropriate information such as recommendations made for change, or significant 

issues raised in the questionnaire, whilst bearing in mind confidentiality issues, may be 

passed on to the appropriate officers for consideration.  Areas to explore will include: 

 

 Any obstacles / difficulties to carrying out the duties efficiently and effectively. 

 Any extra skills or support the member feels would be beneficial for future 
members to have. 

 Any feedback they wish to give about the organisation as a whole and member 

support in particular. 

 

 

 

Member’s name    Position  

 

 

Appointing Authority    Leaving Date 

 

Term(s) of Office:  

             

 

Section 1 – Your reason for leaving 

 

Please select your main reason for leaving 
 

▪ Completion of Term of Office        

▪ Not reappointed by appointing Authority       
 

Other reasons 

 

▪ Health           

▪ Home relocation          

▪ Caring responsibilities         

▪ Need for change          

▪ Travel problems          

▪ Retirement          

▪ Other personal reasons (please give details below)     
 

 

 

Page 39



2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Section 2 -  Member Services 

 
Please could you let us have your views in relation to the following areas: 

 

Induction process      Excellent         Good          Adequate       Poor 

 

     

Comments: 

 

 

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

Training & development  

opportunities 

 

Comments: 

 

 

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

Communication of  

information     

 

Comments: 

 

 

 

 

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

Admin arrangements  

 

Comments: 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Section 3 -  Committees 

    

    

    

    

Comments 

Page 40



3 

 

 

Please could you give us your views on the structure of and running of committee 

meetings, including any comments on the information sent to members etc (to help with 

future corporate governance arrangements) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Section 4 – Member Involvement and Governance 

 

Are there any areas of the Authority’s work where you feel Members should have more 

involvement? 

 

 

 

 

Are there any areas where you feel Members do not receive sufficient information to be 

able to act effectively? 

 

 

 

 

Do you find the role of Member Champion useful (either from the point of view of 

being one, or as an “onlooker”)?   What did it add to your decision-making, and can you 
suggest any improvements? 

 

 

 

 

Did you find the Code of Conduct for Members easy to understand, and if not would 

further training have been helpful? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 41



4 

 

Can you think of any improvements to the system for registration and declaration of 

Members’ personal interests? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Section 5 - General 

 

What did you enjoy most about your role as Member of this Authority? 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

What did you find most difficult about being a Member?  Is there anything that we could 

do to assist future Members in this respect? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Section 6 – Confidentiality 

 

Is there anything of a sensitive or difficult nature that you wish to raise with the 

interviewer?  If so, please discuss this with him/her and how you wish your comments 

to be considered. 

How did you find the electronic committee management system (Modern.gov)? 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 42



5 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Section 7 – Keeping in Touch 

 

After you leave there are a number of ways in which you might like to keep 

in touch with the Authority and continue to be an ‘ambassador’ for the Park.  

Please discuss this with your interviewer and tick all the boxes below that 

apply: 

 
I would like to receive Community Newsletters 

 

 

 I would like to receive copies of press releases 

 

 

I would like to receive copies of the CEO’s announcements before each Authority 

meeting 

 

 

I would like more information on becoming a National Park Volunteer 

 

 

I would be interesting to receive details of becoming a member of the Brecon Beacons 

Park Society 

 

 

I would be interested in contributing to future member development events (Please 

indicate whether this is to lead a session, and if so, what areas of expertise do you 

have?). 

 

I would be interested in providing some mentoring support to new members 

 

 

I would be interested in taking part in scrutiny reviews (you will be contacted when we 

start a new scrutiny review) 

 

 

I would be interested in attending future Welsh Park Members Seminars (at my own 

expense) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 43



6 

 

 

 

 

Section 8– Notes from Interview (for the interviewer to complete) 

 

Please record any other information supplied by the member or expand on the 

information above: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Please record any comments the member made regarding how the Authority can 

improve its member support and corporate governance procedures: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Checklist of items to return 

 

Laptop or computer     

 

Identity badge and access fob     

   

Resources no longer needed    

 

Confidential papers for shredding    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 44



7 

 

Thank you for completing this feedback form -  please return it to Julia Gruffydd, 

Democratic Services Manager    

 

It would be helpful if you would submit any outstanding expense claims asap and 

please give details of a forwarding address and personal email address if different 

from that currently held by us. 

 

 

Signature of Member      

 

 

Signature of Interviewer     

 

Post of interviewer  

 

 
Date 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Review of Personal Development Interview Process 

 

Name of 

Committee 

 National Park Authority 

Date 

 

22 September 2017 

Report Author  

Julia Gruffydd 

Job title 

 

Democratic Services Manager 

Contact Details  

01874 810449 / julia.gruffydd@beacons-npa.gov.uk  

Purpose of Report To seek the views of members on any changes they wish to 

implement to the PDI process and the pro-forma 

 

Single Integrated 

Assessment 
N/A 

List of  Enclosures Enclosure 1: Proposed changes to the Personal 

Development Interview policy 

Enclosure 2: Draft Personal Development Interview 

form 

Public Interest Test N/A 

Recommendations a) To approve the Personal Development Interview 

process for members as set out in Enclosure 1 to the 

report; 

b) To approve the pro-forma for Personal 

Development Interviews for members as set out in 

Enclosure 2 to the report. 

 

 

1.1 Introduction or Background 

 

The Authority was one of the first Authorities in Wales to carry out Personal 

Development Interviews (PDIs) with the aim of reviewing the support and opportunities 

for development for all members to carry out their role(s) effectively. 

 

Page 47

Agenda Item 9

mailto:julia.gruffydd@beacons-npa.gov.uk


The process has worked well here and in most years all members have undergone a 

PDI, which includes not only a review of development undertaken throughout the year 

and how this has helped their role, but also identifies any development still required as 

well as to support any personal aspirations.  PDIs are carried out by the Chairman and 

Deputy Chairman of the Authority, the Chairman of PAROW and the Chairman of 

Audit and Scrutiny.  In some authorities PDIs are carried out by officers, but this is 

mainly to facilitate the process in a political environment. 

 

This year we had a reduced take-up of PDIs due to it being the fifth and final year of the 

electoral cycle with several members aware that they were retiring, and others not 

feeling they needed bespoke development at that time.  Officers did not pursue this but 

felt it was time for a review.  At a recent WLGA Member Support Network meeting, 

attended by the Chairman of the Governance and Member Development Working 

Group and the Democratic Services Manager, other authorities reported low take-up of 

PDIs and stated that they were reviewing their processes. 

 

1.2 Proposals 

 

The PDI policy was last reviewed in 2012 before the last local government elections, 

although the form has been modified slightly since then.  At the last Governance and 

Member Development Working Group members felt that the policy was still sound in 

principle, with a few amendments, and that there should be one form for all members, 

with a first section allocated to new members, which returning members could skip.   

 

Some changes have been made based on these comments and presented to the working 

group on 11 September.  Members endorsed the principle of the PDI process and felt 

that it was important that all members undertook this annually. They felt there was 

potential for members to review what they had ‘scored’ themselves in the Member 

Skills Audit and reflect on what development might help them increase scores when 

they were next asked to complete the audit. 

 

An additional question was added to the form about whether members had taken the 

opportunity to have a mentor, and if so, how this had helped them in their role. 

 

The Working Group also felt that it would reduce the commitment for a few senior 

members if the Deputy Chairman of Planning, Access and Rights of Way Committee and 

of the Audit and Scrutiny Committee were to undertake some of the PDIs.  This would 

have the additional benefit of preparing Deputy Chairmen potentially for the role of 

Chairman in future and add to personal skills sets.  On the back of this discussion and 

also a review of the Member Development Programme it was suggested that the Welsh 

Local Government Association be asked to provide member development sessions on 

chairing skills (in which carrying out member reviews could be included) and also 

mentoring skills, as neither of these modules had been delivered recently. 

 

Page 48



In terms of facilitating the scheduling of PDIs it was suggested that dates be circulated 

using an online tool such as Doodle Poll, which officers welcomed. 

 

1.3 Implications 

 

If the Authority concurs with the suggestion from the Working Group to nominate 

respective Deputy Chairmen to assist in the carrying out of PDIs, then the policy would 

need to be further amended. 

 

1.4 Risk 

 

The PDI process is one that has enjoyed considerable support from members over the 

years and has been a firm basis for the Authority’s successful applications for the Basic 

and Advanced Charter for Member Support and Development.  The model has been 

adapted by other National Park Authorities and is essential in order to do a training 

needs analysis each year, which provides the basis for the Member Development 
Programme.  This results in a programme that is relevant to, and requested by 

members. 

 

1.5 Conclusion 

 

It is important to review all processes to ensure they are up to date and relevant for 

today’s members.  The proposed changes will provide a foundation for both new 

members and returning members. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

a) To approve the Personal Development Interview process for members as set 

out in Enclosure 1 to the report; 

b) To approve the pro-forma for Personal Development Interviews for members as 

set out in Enclosure 2 to the report. 

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank



Members Personal Development Interviews 

Policy – July 2017 
 

Background 
 

Member Personal Development Interviews (PDI) is are an integral part of supporting members 

and is a key component of the work of the Welsh Local Government Association’s “A Wales 

Charter for Member Support and Development”.  ” of which the Authority holds the Advanced 

Level.  As Elected local authority or Welsh Government Aappointed Members today you bring 

a range of expertise and experiences and face increasing challenges. Under the modernisation 

agenda, there are heightened expectations on you to undertake a diversity of roles, ranging 

from that of community leader, to special responsibilities within the Authority. In the Brecon 

Beacons National Park Authority we are striving to provide the best possible support for you 

to enable you to meet these challenges. This takes the form of skill and knowledge 

development, support facilities, and support services. 

 

What are Personal Development Interviews? 
 

Personal Development Interviews are part of the the a framework to develop your skills, 

knowledge and experiences during your period term of office within the Authority.  The 

interviews themselves are an opportunity for you to reflect on the challenges you have faced 

and overcome, how relevant your training was and what anything we still need to do to fully 

equip you with the full range of skills for the future skills you need for your role on the 

Authority. We takes your views very seriously and anything you can tell us about your 

experience, good or not so good, will help us improve our support for you. 

 

The Personal Development Interview (PDI) 

 
What is the purpose 

of the PDI 

 The PDI is essentially an opportunity for you, as a Member of the 

Authority to get together with an experienced member to discuss and 

reflect on your development and experiences over the past twelve 

months.  The interview will provide you with an opportunity to focus on 

the following areas: 

 

1. Your role within the Authority, the any key skills and knowledge 

areas you still  need to develop and the any major challenges that 

you have faced. 

 

2. The most useful learning events that you have attended and why. 

 

3. What you have learned and how this has helped you in your role 

 

4. How the member Development portfolio has helped youHow 

you were given information and how useful this was 

 

5. What has gone well // has not gone not so well 

Page 51



 

 

The PDI should not be a top down process or an opportunity for one 

person to ask questions and the other to reply. It should be a free 

flowing,  constructive conversation in which a range of views are 

exchanged which are treated sensitively and in confidence.  

 

PDIs are designed to allow you an opportunity to review / reflect past 

behaviour and so provide an opportunity for you to evaluate your 

contribution to the work of the Authority. But to be truly successful, 

PDIs should also be used as a basis for making development and 

improvement plans and reaching agreement about what should be done 

in the future and this is contained within the Personal Support Plan at the 

end of the document.  This last part of the process is the only one that 

will be shared to Democratic Services. 

   

Who will conduct 

the Interview 

  Chairman: PDIs for Deputy Chairman of the Authority, Chairman 

of PAROW and Chairman of Internal Review Audit and 

ScrutinyCommittee, those members of PAROW not on Internal 

ReviewAudit and Scrutiny Committee (to be shared with the 

Chairman of PAROW) 

 

 Chairman of Internal Review Committeea Audit and Scrutiny 

Committee :  Members of Internal ReviewAudit and Scrutiny 

Committee 

 

 Chairman of PAROW: those members of PAROW not on 

Internal ReviewAudit and Scrutiny Committee (to be shared with 

the Chairman of the Authority) 

 

It was also felt appropriate to consider asking eEither the Chairman of 

Snowdonia or Pembrokeshire Coast National Park Authorites to will be 

asked to conduct a PDI for the Chairman of the Authority. 

 

   

What do I need to 

do to prepare for the 

interview. 

 As with any learning event or review, the more time you can put aside to 

prepare the better.  Personal development is a process that can be 

achieved by formal or informal learning opportunities, sometimes 

structured through a training course or by listening, reading or reflecting 

on events.  The PDI document is designed to take you through the 

learning process by asking you to identify your role and contribution 

within the Authority, what skills you have gained and what you need to 

do to be more effective in the future.  Each and every member will have 

different learning needs and the more time that you put aside to reflect 

on your development the more you will achieve from the process. 

   

The interview itself  Preparation is key here.  Time must be set aside without any distractions.  

Book the room through Democratic Services or agree the meeting place 

with your interviewer well in advance and put aside plenty of time to 

ensure that all aspects of the review are covered and you are not pushed 

Page 52



for time. 

 

Both you and your interviewer must prepare thoroughly and it is often 

useful for you to complete the Interview document and send it to your 

mentor in advance.  This gives the interviewer plenty of time to prepare 

for the review. 

 

It is important to remember that this is NOT a performance review; it is 

an opportunity to review your development in the role.  Feedback must 

be appropriate and constructive and also challenge you to develop your 

skills. 

 

The review will also provide you with an opportunity to identify any 

knowledge or skills gaps that you have and activities to help you develop 

these skills can be agreed and recorded in the Personal Support Plan. 

 

Remember – learning is about the journey not just arriving. 

 

 

 

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Members Personal Development Interview 

 

Purpose of the PDI 

The Authority values the views of its members and your PDI gives you the opportunity to reflect on 

the past year with the Authority and consider your future aspirations and development needs.  

This will include thinking about: 

1. Your role within the Authority, any key skills and knowledge areas you still need to develop and 

any challenges that you have faced. 

 

2. The most useful learning events that you have attended and why. 

 

3. How you have used your learning in your role(s) with the Authority  

 

4. How you were given information and how useful this was 

 

5. What has gone well /not so well 

 
6. The governance arrangements of the Authority 

 

The PDI process is a confidential one between the member and the interviewer.  Unless you 

wish otherwise, only the learning needs and any action required (the last page of the report) will 

be forwarded to the Democratic Services Team. 

Name  

Appointing Body   

Date Joined  

Date Current 

Appointment 

Expires 

 

Committee 

Membership 

PAROW Audit and 

Scrutiny 

Urgent 

Business 

Committee 

Standards SDF 

Additional   

responsibilities 
Chairman/  

Deputy 

Chairman 

Chairman/  

Deputy 

Chairman 

Chairman/  

Deputy 

Chairman 

Chairman/  

Deputy 

Chairman 

Chairman/  

Deputy 

Chairman 

Attendance      

Member Champion 
 

Representation on 

external bodies  
 

Page 55



 

 

 

If you were appointed this year please complete Section 1 and all following sections.  Members 

in their second year onwards, please move straight to Section 2. 

Section 1:  Induction 

Have you completed the three mandatory induction sections (Introduction to BBNPA, 

Development Management and Ethical Framework?                                                     Yes/ No 

 

Have you received a development session for the committees you have been appointed to?  (eg. 

Audit and Scrutiny Committee, Standards, SDF)                                                              Yes / No 

 

If No, please indicate what you still need: 

Do you need briefing/support for additional roles such as Member Champion, working groups or 

external representation?          Yes / No 

If No please give details of what you need. 

How useful did you find the induction programme?  What was most effective / least effective 

about the programme? 

 Did you request a mentor when you were appointed?  How helpful was this?  If not, would you 

like to discuss this with the Chairman? 

Page 56



 

 

If you have identified any development needs in this section please list them at the end in 

Section 5 

Section 2:  What has gone well this year for you personally / not so 

well? 

 

 

 

 

 

Please give details: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 57



 

Section 3:  Member Development Programme 

What development sessions have you attended this year (apart from induction)? 

Event How useful was this? How have you applied what you learned 

in this session? 

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

 

Section 4:  Governance Arrangements 

How have you found the governance arrangements of the Authority?  Think about scheduling, 

venues, information provided for meetings and anything else you think relevant. 

 

Page 58



Section 5:  Future Development Needs and Actions 

 

Personal Support Plan for (name of member): 

 

NB.  This part of the form should be completed and passed to Democratic Services, who will 

use the information to create the Member Development Programme for the year 

 

 

 

What do you need for your personal and professional development in order to carry out your 

role(s) effectively with the Authority this year? 

 

 

Areas that I would like to develop How will I develop that skill / knowledge 

– preferred method of delivery (eg. one 

to one briefing, visits, networking, 

workshops, learning events) 

Priority 1 – 3 

(1 being the 

highest) 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

  

 

Other Actions 

Please list any other actions agreed with your interviewer: 

1.  

 

 

Signature of Member:   

Signature of Interviewer:  

 

Date: 

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Affordable Housing:  Terms of Reference 

 

Name of 

Committee 

 National Park Authority 

Date 

 

22 September 2017 

Report Author Julia Gruffydd 

 

Job title 

 

Democratic Services Manager 

Contact Details Tel: 01874 620400 

julia.gruffydd@beacons-npa.gov.uk  

 

Purpose of Report To update the terms of reference for the working group 

 

Single Integrated 

Assessment 
Not applicable 

List of  Enclosures Proposed amendments to the terms of reference 

Public Interest Test Not applicable 

Recommendation To approve the update to the terms of reference of 

the Affordable Housing Working Group as set out in 

Enclosure 1 to the report and to update the Terms of 

Reference and Scheme of Delegation accordingly. 

 
 

1.1 Introduction or Background 

 

The Authority needs to keep an up to date record of the terms of reference and 

scheme of delegation to ensure a high level of governance. 

 

Officers have identified a minor update needed to the terms of reference of the 

Affordable Housing Working Group. 

1.2 Proposals 

 

The terms of reference have not been updated since the Authority reviewed its 

Member Champion roles in 2015, and still refer to the Affordable Housing Champion 

being a member of the group and chairing it.  Before 2015 there was a champion for 

Page 61

Agenda Item 10

mailto:julia.gruffydd@beacons-npa.gov.uk


Affordable Housing, but members felt that given the approval of policy in relation to 

Affordable Housing there did not need to be a bespoke champion role, and it was 

deleted from the list. 

The Affordable Housing Working Group met briefly recently and it is important to keep 

the terms of reference updated.  The first tranche of commuted sums has just been 

advertised and the working group will be meeting again shortly to consider any 

applications and make recommendations to the full Authority. 

 

1.3 Implications 

 

While the working group does not have delegated responsibility for making decisions, it 

is considered good governance to keep all regulatory documents up to date. 

 

1.4 Risk 

 

If this is not corrected then the public will not have access to the current composition 
of the working group. 

 

1.5 Conclusion 

 

Members are asked to approve the minor update to the terms of reference. 

 

 

RECOMMENDATION:  To approve the update to the terms of reference of 

the Affordable Housing Working Group as set out in Enclosure 1 to the report 

and to update the Terms of Reference and Scheme of Delegation accordingly. 

  

 

Page 62



AFFORDABLE HOUSING WORKING GROUP 

 

 

Composition 

 

Three Members of the National Park Authority:  two Members appointed from local 

authorities and one Member appointed by the Welsh Assembly Government. 

 

The Working Group will elect its own chairman at its first meeting after the Annual General 

Meeting each year. 

 

 

Terms of Reference 

 

1. To consider the implementation of current National Park Policy in relation to 

Affordable Housing, delivery issues and future Policy direction 
 

2. To hold quarterly meetings 

 

 

Delegated Powers 

 

The Working Group would make any necessary recommendations to the National Park 

Authority. 
 

Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Name of 

Committee 

 National Park Authority 

Date 

 

21st September 2017 

Report Author Ryan Greaney 

 

Job title 

 

Principal Planning Officer 

Contact Details 01874 620442  

Ryan.greaney@beacons-npa.gov.uk 
 

Purpose of Report The National Park Authority is required by the Welsh 

Government to produce and submit an Annual Monitoring 

Report by 31st October each year following the adoption of 

the Local Development Plan.  The report is fundamental in 

assessing the progress of the Local Development Plan in 

implementing the policies contained within the Plan and will 

allow the National Park Authority the opportunity to assess 

the Policies against the most up-to-date information available.   

Single Integrated 

Assessment 
Not required – SIA of LDP has already been carried 

out. 

List of  Enclosures Enclosure 1 – Draft Annual Monitoring Report 

2016/17 

Public Interest Test Not applicable. 

Recommendation(s) It is recommended that Members: 

a) Note the content of the Annual Monitoring Report 

b) Agree the recommendations 

c) Agree to the submission of the Annual Monitoring 

Report to the Welsh Government by 31st October 

2017. 

 

 

1.1 Introduction or Background 

 

Page 65

Agenda Item 11



The National Park Authority is required by the Welsh Government to produce and submit an 

Annual Monitoring Report by 31st October each year following the adoption of the Local 

Development Plan.  The report is fundamental in assessing the progress of the Local 

Development Plan in implementing the policies contained within the Plan and will allow the 

National Park Authority the opportunity to assess the Policies against the most up-to-date 

information available.  The Annual Monitoring Report also includes the results of the Strategic 

Environmental Assessment/Sustainability Appraisal as well as the National Park Management 

Plan monitoring (Appendix 2 and 3). 

 

The monitoring exercise can assist the National Park Authority to:-  

 

• Identify where certain policies are not being successful in delivering their intended 

objective;  

• Identify gaps in the evidence base, perhaps through a change in the economy, which 

need to be addressed and reflected in the Local Development Plan;  

• Identify areas of success which could be used as an example for change throughout the 
Local Development Plan;  

• State the intended actions that the National Park Authority will take in rectifying any 

issues to ensure the successful implementation of the policy or any revision that 

needs to take place.  

 

The National Park Authority has constructed a set of targets and indicators which act as a 

benchmark against which performance can be measured. Targets may relate to the achievement 

of certain levels of development and may be set annually or at an interim point within the Plan 

period. The target for the whole of the Plan is to achieve the implementation of the Local 

Development Plan Strategy. 

 

The following options are available to the National Park Authority in association with each of 

the indicators and their triggers. The Annual Monitoring Report will assess the severity of the 

situation associated with each indicator and recommend an appropriate response: 

 

• Continue Monitoring 

• Officer/Member Training Required 

• Supplementary Planning Guidance/Development Briefs Required 

• Policy Research 

• Policy Review 

• Plan/Strategy Review 

 

As part of the Annual Monitoring Report process, the National Park Authority will also include 

an update on the development of allocated sites. This will highlight what activity has taken place 

on the site in any given year including the preparation of studies or the progression of 

development. If a site is not being progressed as anticipated, this will be interpreted as a trigger 

and appropriate action (see above) will be taken by the National Park Authority if needed. 

 

Page 66



1.2 Proposals 

 

Monitoring Complete 

The requirements of a number of the indicators were met during the first monitoring phase of 

the Local Development Plan and, accordingly, these no longer require monitoring.  These were: 

 

 Occupation of the allocated Gypsy and Traveller site; and 

 Supplementary Planning Guidance relating to: 

o Affordable Housing 

o Planning Obligations 

o Appropriate Development in the Countryside 

o Farm Diversification 

o Obtrusive Lighting 

o Sustainable Development in the National Parks of Wales 

o Small Scale Renewable Energy Developments 

o Minerals Safeguarding 

 

 

During the second monitoring period, the requirements of the following indicators were met: 

 

 The review of the Brecon, Talgarth and Hay-On-Wye Conservation Areas  

 Supplementary Planning Guidance relating to:  

o The Biodiversity Audit 

o Biodiversity 

 

During the 2016/17 monitoring period, the requirements of the following indicators were met: 

 0.75 Hectares of allocated employment land developed 
  

 

Cease Monitoring 

It is also recommended during the first monitoring phase that monitoring ceases in relation to 

the following indicator: 

 

 Number of applications for larger developments that fail to provide 20% of their energy 

from low or zero carbon resources 

 

It was considered that the low and zero carbon indicator is not an appropriate measuring tool 
in that it does not relate to any specific policies within the Local Development Plan.  That is, 

there are no policies or signposts in the Local Development Plan that prompt applicants meet 

the 20% Low Zero Carbon energy target.   

 

This indicator arose as a result of the requirements of Policy SP11 (Sustainable Development) 

as it was originally drafted in the Deposit Local Development Plan.  However, this specific 

requirement was removed from the policy by the Inspector during the Local Development Plan 

Examination on the basis that it was beyond the requirements of National Planning Policy.  The 

Page 67



indicator remains in the Monitoring Framework by error as it was not picked up during the 

editing process and amended by way of the Matters Arising Changes.  Nevertheless, numerous 

Climate Change, Sustainable Design and Renewable Energy indicators have continued to be 

monitored in addition to the monitoring requirements of the Strategic Environmental 

Assessment. 

 

For the second and third monitoring phases, it was recommended that monitoring continued 

on all of the relevant indicators (save for those where the requirements are complete as set 

out above). 

 

 

Future Monitoring and Additional Work  

Work Arising from Previous Monitoring Periods 

Following the first monitoring phase it was determined that the vast majority of the indicators, 

as required by the Local Development Plan Monitoring Framework, will continue to be 

monitored.  Of these, there were a small number that required some additional work in the 
form of policy research, Supplementary Planning Guidance and Officer/Member training which 

was carried out during the second monitoring phase. 

 

The first indicator requiring additional policy research relates to the number of consents 

granted and dwellings completed annually.   

 

Some comparison research with other Local Planning Authorities at the time into the delivery 

of housing will be beneficial in terms of providing a wider context and an understanding of the 

issues across Wales.  A study of the Constituent Authorities together with the other two 

National Park Authorities should provide an appropriately wide sample.  Whilst this has not 

been carried out as described to date, analysis of the availability of land for housing delivery 

across Wales showed that 17 of the 25 Planning Authority did not at that time have a 5 year 

supply (with the Wales average being 3.9 years supply).  Given that 22 of the 25 Authorities had 

a current development plan at the time (not all of which are Local Development Plans), this 

suggested that there was a widespread issue with regard to housing delivery. 

 

Following the first phase of monitoring it was reasonable to suggest that the implementation of 

the Local Development Plan’s Strategy was progressing well.   Whilst it is acknowledged that 

this was the first Annual Monitoring Report for the Local Development Plan and that a number 

of allocated sites are being progressed, the speed of this progression and the number of sites 

not progressed to the application stage should be noted.  Accordingly, further investigation to 

determine the reasons why 8 of the 14 allocations for the first 5 years of the plan period have 

not been progressed was recommended to be undertaken.  Accordingly, officers made direct 

contact with the landowners with a view to receiving an update as well as taking the 

opportunity to advise them that the Authority will consider the removal of their site from the 

Local Development Plan during the Review, if it is not progressed during the first 5 years of the 

plan period.  Officers were advised by the relevant landowners that the sites will be progressed 

in the near future and, in fact, one application was subsequently submitted during the second 

monitoring period. 

 

Page 68



Turning to the indicator requiring all applications granted planning consent to achieve a 

density of 30 dwellings per hectare, some additional policy research into the following was 

required following the first monitoring period: 

 The number of allocated sites (specifically) that have been granted planning permission 
at a density below 30 dwellings per hectare; and 

 Determine specific reasoning for allowing a lower density. 

 

As referred to above, the provision of additional training and Supplementary Planning Guidance 

was recommended in relation to this particular issue.  This, however, was be dependant of the 

results yielded from the suggested research. 

 

The research found that the policy was being implemented correctly by officers.  Nevertheless, 

officer training was provided by the Strategy and Policy team to ensure that all officers 

(particularly new members of staff) were aware of the potential implications to the LDP.  

 

The final indicator requiring additional policy research following the first phase of monitoring 

was the Affordable Housing percentage contribution targets for the three sub-market areas 

within the National Park.  Raw data derived from the Land Registry and Development Appraisal 

Toolkit suggested that land values have increased since the adoption of the Local Development 

Plan.  Given the potential positive effects in relation to the viability of developments, it would 

be prudent for the Authority to undertake additional viability testing with a  view to modifying 

the Affordable Housing contribution targets (if appropriate) during the first Review stage. 

 
As a result of the second monitoring phase, further policy research was recommended in 

relation to the following indicators: 

 

 Number of consents granted and completions of dwellings annually 

 Dwelling density 

 Affordable Housing contribution percentage 

 Development with an adverse impact on heritage assets 

 

The annual indicators suggest that housing completions are not up to the level required.  

Accordingly, some further research and investigation is required in the form of undertaking 

comparison research with other Local Planning Authorities into the delivery of housing.  Whilst 

some research has already been carried out as set out above, it is considered that more specific 

research is required in relation to housing delivery across other comparable authority areas.  

To this end, the 2016 Joint Housing Land Availability Studies across Wales show that as at 1 
April 2016 19 out of the twenty-five local planning authorities were unable to demonstrate a 

five year housing land supply.  By comparison, 17 local planning authorities were unable to 

demonstrate a five year housing land supply in 2015, all of which remain without a five year 

supply in 2016.   Furthermore, 16 local planning authorities have had less than five years 

housing land supply for three or more consecutive years. 

 

To this end, it is clear that difficulties in relation to housing delivery is a national issue and not 

exclusive to the Brecon Beacons National Park Area.  Indeed, the figures for 2016 show that 

housing land supply as reported in Joint Housing Land Availability Study reports has declined for 

Page 69



many LPAs, including for some with recently adopted Local Development Plans. Research 

commissioned by the Welsh Government (Longitudinal viability study of the planning process 

undertaken by Arcadis (UK) Ltd) indicates that one of the main reasons is the allocation of sites 

for housing which are essentially undeliverable or only likely to come forward at later stages of 

the LDP period. Viability was identified as a key reason for delays in delivery, covering issues 

such as affordable housing requirements, sites being located in low value market areas, poor 

quality sites or specific infrastructure requirements. 

 

 

The dwelling density indicator again suggests that this policy is not wholly being implemented 

so far as in that not all sites are being developed at a rate of 30 dwellings per hectare.  Of 

course, it is noted that there is flexibility within the policy that allows development to take 

place at a density below 30 dwellings per hectare but it would, nevertheless, be prudent to 

undertake some further research to determine the specific reasons for allowing a lower level of 

dwelling density.  The result of this research showed that, once again, the policy is being 

implemented appropriately.  In each case, the lower density provision could be justified by on 
site environmental constraints and/or local patterns in relation to layout and density. 

 

With regard to the Affordable Housing contribution target percentage, the Land Registry 

data, together with the Development Appraisal Toolkit data, suggests a significant overall 

increase in house prices in the Heads of the Valleys area, albeit a reduction in 2015/16.  

Accordingly, it would be prudent for the Authority to consider additional viability testing with a 

view to modifying the Affordable Housing contribution targets (if appropriate) during the 

Review of the Local Development Plan.  It should be noted that this work has commenced as 

the Authority has commissioned Dr Andrew Golland to carry out the necessary viability testing 

for the entire National Park Area.  

 

Clearly, the requirements of the ‘development with an adverse impact on heritage 

assets’ indicator are not wholly being met.  Accordingly, further investigation is required into 

planning permission reference 15/12267/FUL and Advertisement Consent 15/12591/ADV to 

ascertain the particular circumstances of each case.  It was determined in both instances that no 

additional officer training was required in relation to this indicator given that the issues raised 

were very minor.  

 

Policy Research Arising from the 2016/17 Monitoring Period 

As a result of the third monitoring period, it was determined that further policy research was 

required in relation to the following indicators: 

 Number of consents granted and dwellings completed annually 

 Number of units granted and completed in each settlement tier 

 All applications granted planning consent to achieve a density of 30 dwellings per 

hectare 
 

The annual indicators suggest that housing completions are not up to the level required.  

Further research and investigation is therefore required in the form of the continuation of 

comparison research with other Local Planning Authorities into the delivery of housing.  It 

should also be noted that work has been commissioned by the Authority in relation to 

Page 70



‘Housing Need’ scenarios, which will form a key piece of evidence for the forthcoming Review 

of the LDP. 

 

It is also recommended that the monitoring relating to the location of dwellings within the 

settlement hierarchy is continued and the landowners of allocated sites (without planning 

permission) within the Primary Key Settlement and Key Settlements are contacted with a view 

to ascertaining the likely timescales for the progression of their sites.  The Authority notes, 

however, the constraints associated with sewerage and water infrastructure in the Primary Key 

Settlement of Brecon.  Here, it is envisaged that the issues will be addressed further to the 

completion of Dwr Cymru Welsh Water’s Asset Management Programme in March 2018. 

 

One of the indicators also suggests that the dwelling density policy is not wholly being 

implemented as required.  However, it must be noted that there is flexibility within the policy 

that allows development to take place at a density below 30 dwellings per hectare.  

Accordingly, further research is required to determine the specific reasons for allowing a lower 

level of dwelling density.  Previous research into this policy (as a result of consents below the 
30 dwelling per hectare threshold) demonstrated that the policy was, in fact, being implemented 

as required. 

 

Additional Supplementary Planning Guidance 

As referred to above, depending on the results of the policy research relating to dwelling 

density, it may have been required to develop relevant supplementary guidance.  However, the 

results of the policy research thus far suggested that the policy has been implemented 

appropriately.   Nevertheless, this stance may change further to additional policy research. 

 

There was no additional supplementary planning guidance recommended as a result of the 

2015-16 monitoring phase indicators.  Nevertheless, work had commenced on SPG relating to 

‘Householder Design’ and ‘Allotments’ as well as the Affordable Housing Strategy, the Hay 

Town Plan and Cerrigcochion Road Development Brief (land opposite the High School, 

Brecon).  These have now been completed and endorsed by Members for use in the 

determination of relevant planning applications. 

 

At this time, no further Supplementary Planning Guidance is scheduled as a result of 

performance against the monitoring indicators.  Nevertheless, work had commenced on the 

following by the end of the monitoring period: 

 Crickhowell Community Plan 

 Brecon Town Plan 

 Talgarth Town Plan 

 Wellbeing (possible SPG) 
 

 

Officer and Member Training 

No additional Officer and Member training was proposed as a result of the 2015-16 monitoring 

phase.  This is also the case for this monitoring phase, save for the potential training in relation 

to dwelling density arising from further research. 

 

Page 71



1.3 Implications 

 

There are some implications in relation to the officer time required for policy research. 

1.4 Risk 

 

Submission of an Annual Monitoring Report to the Welsh Government is a statutory 

requirement for all 25 Planning Authorities across Wales. 

 

Furthermore, failure to agree to the recommended policy research could put at risk the 

implementation of the Local Development Plan Strategy. 

 

 

RECOMMENDATION(S): 

 It is recommended that Members: 

 

a) Note the content of the Annual Monitoring Report 

b) Agree the recommendations 

c) Agree to the submission of the Annual Monitoring Report to the Welsh 

Government by 31st October 2017 

 

Page 72



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 
 

 
Local Development Plan 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Annual Monitoring Report 
 

1st April 2016 – 31st March 2017 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

September 2017 

Page 73



1 | P a g e  
 

Introduction 
The National Park Authority is required by the Welsh Government to produce and submit an Annual 
Monitoring Report by 31st October each year following the adoption of the Local Development Plan.  
The report is fundamental in assessing the progress of the Local Development Plan in implementing 
the policies contained within the Plan and will allow the National Park Authority the opportunity to 
assess the Policies against the most up-to-date information available.  The Annual Monitoring Report 
also includes the results of the Strategic Environmental Assessment/Sustainability Appraisal as well as 
the National Park Management Plan monitoring (Appendix 2 and 3). 
 
The monitoring exercise can assist the National Park Authority to:-  
 

 Identify where certain policies are not being successful in delivering their intended objective;  

 Identify gaps in the evidence base, perhaps through a change in the economy, which need to 
be addressed and reflected in the Local Development Plan;  

 Identify areas of success which could be used as an example for change throughout the Local 
Development Plan;  

 State the intended actions that the National Park Authority will take in rectifying any issues to 
ensure the successful implementation of the policy or any revision that needs to take place.  

 
The National Park Authority has constructed a set of targets and indicators which act as a benchmark 
against which performance can be measured. Targets may relate to the achievement of certain levels 
of development and may be set annually or at an interim point within the Plan period. The target for 
the whole of the Plan is to achieve the implementation of the Local Development Plan Strategy. 
 
The indicators and targets set out in the Monitoring Framework also give trigger points to indicate if 
one part of the Plan is not achieving the desired outcomes. If these triggers are ‘activated’ then the 
Annual Monitoring Report will consider the necessary action which is required as a result. There are a 
number of outcomes which could be actioned by the National Park Authority in this event; these will 
depend on both the level to which the target appears not to have been met and the criticalness of the 
development to the achievement of the Local Development Plan Strategy. Contextual indicators will 
also be used in the Annual Monitoring Report to evaluate if it is actually the Plan which is not achieving 
the targets or if there are external factors (such as the economy or changes in funding sources etc.) 
which are contributing in this respect and therefore outside of the planning system’s control.  
 
The following options are available to the National Park Authority in association with each of the 
indicators and their triggers. The Annual Monitoring Report will assess the severity of the situation 
associated with each indicator and recommend an appropriate response: 
 

 Continue Monitoring 

 Officer/Member Training Required 

 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Development Briefs Required 

 Policy Research 

 Policy Review 

 Plan/Strategy Review 
 
As part of the Annual Monitoring Report process, the National Park Authority will also include an 
update on the development of allocated sites. This will highlight what activity has taken place on the 
site in any given year including the preparation of studies or the progression of development. If a site 
is not being progressed as anticipated, this will be interpreted as a trigger and appropriate action (see 
above) will be taken by the National Park Authority if needed. 

 

Page 74



2 | P a g e  
 

Executive Summary 
The Strategic Environmental Assessment directive requires that the significant environmental effects 
of implementing a plan are monitored so that the appropriate remedial actions can be taken if 
required. The Sustainability Appraisal of the Local Development Plan identified no significant adverse 
effects on the objectives; however, it identified significant positive effects which require monitoring. 
 
Also included in the Annual Monitoring Report is an update on the development of allocated sites. 
This highlights what activity has taken place on the site in any given year including the preparation of 
studies or the progression of development.  It is noted that 10 allocated housing sites for the first 5 
year period have been progressed to the planning application stage, with 4 developers having 
commenced development on site.  Officers have written to landowners to advise them that failure to 
progress these sites through the planning system may result in their de-allocation during the Review 
stage.  Understandably, there has been less activity in relation to later sites with four being progressed 
to an application stage – one is minded to permit subject to a Section 106 Agreement and two have 
been permitted.  Of the two permissions granted, one has commenced development on site.  Whilst 
the Authority appreciates that a number of these sites are restricted by a lack of water infrastructure, 
Officers intend to contact the landowners in order to seek an update together with a likely timeframe 
for the progression of the site through the planning process.  Looking at the allocated mixed use sites, 
three Development Briefs have been adopted and one brief is in the process of being prepared by the 
landowner. 
 
The requirements of a number of the strategic and policy indicators were completed during the first 
monitoring phase of the Local Development Plan, namely the occupation of the allocated Gypsy and 
Traveller site and the development of numerous Supplementary Planning Guidance notes.  During the 
second phase it was recommended that monitoring ceased in relation to the number of applications 
for larger developments that fail to provide 20% of their energy from low or zero carbon resources.   
 
Notwithstanding this, the vast majority of the strategic and policy indicators, as required by the Local 
Development Plan Monitoring Framework, will continue to be monitored as detailed in the tables 
marked green and yellow below.  Of these, there is a small number that require some additional work 
in the form of policy research as well as possible Officer/Member training and Supplementary Planning 
Guidance.  A single indicator, relating to the supply of housing land, was marked as red as a result of 
the supply falling below the 5 year mark (4.8).   Whilst this is a concern, falling just 0.2 below the 
threshold would not, on its own, be significant enough to trigger a Review.  However, the Authority is 
due to formally commence Review of the LDP in December 2017 as a result of 4 years elapsing since 
its Adoption in December 2013. 

 
Sustainability Monitoring  
The Strategic Environmental Assessment directive requires that the significant environmental effects 
of implementing a plan are monitored so that the appropriate remedial actions can be taken if 
required. 
 
The Sustainability Appraisal of the Local Development Plan identified no significant adverse effects on 
the objectives, however it identified the following significant positive effects which require 
monitoring. 
 

 Climate Change Adaptation (SA1) and Greenhouse Gas Reduction (SA2) related to Policies SP4: 
‘Climate Change’ and SP11: ‘Sustainable Design’; 

 Water Resources (SA5) through the policy on Water Quality (Policy 10); 

 Biodiversity (SA8) in relation to SP1 National Park Policy and SP3 Environmental Protection, 
including its supporting policy on Biodiversity and Development (Policy 6); 

Page 75



3 | P a g e  
 

 Cultural Heritage (SA9) in relation to SP1 (National Park Policy) and SP3 Environmental 
Protection, including its supporting policy on Areas of Archaeological Evaluation (Policy 22). 

 Landscape SA11 in relation to SP1 (National Park Policy) and SP3 Environmental Protection, 
including its supporting policies Trees and Development (Policy 8) and Light Pollution (Policy 
6) 

 Natural Resources and Infrastructure (SA12) through policies on Sustainable Design (SP11), 
Sustainable Infrastructure (SP16), Waste (SP6) and the recycling of minerals (Policy 67) 

 Population (SA14) in relation to the Spatial Distribution of Development (SP10), National Park 
policy (SP1) and policies relating to housing (SP5), affordable housing (SP6), economic 
wellbeing (SP12) and Sustainable communities (SP15); and 

 Economy (SA17) in relation to National Park policy (SP1) and polices relating to economic 
wellbeing (SP12) and retail (SP13). 

 
The Local Development Plan adopted Monitoring framework set out below addresses some of the 
monitoring requirements for the SA/SEA.  Additional indicators are provided within the SA to ensure 
that all significant effects in the SA can be monitored.  These, where relevant and where data is 
available at National Park level, are provided at Appendix 2. 

 
 
Strategy Monitoring  
 
Key: 

 Complete 

 Continue Monitoring 

 Policy Research / SPG / Officer and Member Training 

 Cease Monitoring 

 
 
Delivering Housing 
Figure 1 

Maintain a 5 year land supply 

Plan Review The Authority’s Joint Housing Land Availability Study 2017 (Appendix 1) confirms 
a 4.8 year land supply.   

Second Monitoring Period (1st April 2015 to 31st March 2016 
The Authority’s Joint Housing Land Availability Study 2016 (Appendix 1) confirms 
a 5.0 year land supply.   

First Monitoring Period (17th Dec 2013 to 31st Mar 2015): 
5.8 year land supply in 2015 
5.3 year land supply in 2014 
 

Comments: 
The Authority retained a 5 year supply of land for the three years since the 
adoption of the LDP.  However, our final Joint Housing Land Availability Study 
before formally commencing the Review of the LDP returned a figure of 4.8 years 
– 0.2 below the ‘threshold’ of 5 years. 

Recommendation: 
The annual monitoring target has not been met.  Whilst this is a concern, I would 
suggest that falling just 0.2 below the threshold would not, on its own, be 
significant enough to trigger a Review.  However, as referred to above, the 

Page 76



4 | P a g e  
 

Authority is due to formally commence Review of the LDP in December in any 
event as a result of 4 years elapsing since its Adoption in December 2013. 
 
 
The Authority will continue to monitor the Authority’s housing land supply via the 
JHLAS process concurrently with the Review of the LDP. 

 
Figure 2  

Number of consents granted and dwellings completed annually  

Policy 
Research 

Third Monitoring Period 
Planning permission granted for 276 new dwellings 
 
Completions 2016-2017 = 52 
 

Second Monitoring Period 
Planning permission granted for 117 new dwellings  
 
Completions 2015-2016 = 58 
 

First Monitoring Period: 
Planning permission granted for 106 new dwellings, plus 64 and 45 completions 
for 2013/14 and 2014/15 respectively. 

Comment: 
The number of dwellings granted planning permission has exceeded the number 
required annually whilst the number of completions for the period falls short (174 
(+/-20%)).   
 
Given the range of figures set out above, it is reasonable to suggest that a 
consideration of fluctuations from year to year should be taken into account.  
Indeed, the second part of the assessment trigger requires between 696 and 1044 
dwellings to be developed by 2017, which is a figure generated over longer 
timescale that would represent a more robust indicator of the LDP’s performance.  
 
From the beginning of the Plan period (2007) to the end of March 2017, there was 
a total of 578 completions.  With a year remaining to achieve the minimum target, 
a further 118 completions are required.  
 
Whilst completions were slightly down during this monitoring period, the large 
increase in the number of dwellings being granted planning permission is 
encouraging (an increase of 159 over and above the figure recorded during the 
second monitoring period). 
 
It was recommended as part of the AMR relating to the second monitoring period 
that Officers undertake comparison research with other Local Planning Authorities 
into the delivery of housing.  Here it was noted that: 

 The 2016 Joint Housing Land Availability Studies across Wales show that 
as at 1 April 2016 19 out of the twenty-five local planning authorities were 
unable to demonstrate a five year housing land supply.  

 By comparison, 17 local planning authorities were unable to demonstrate 
a five year housing land supply in 2015, all of which remain without a five 
year supply in 2016.  

Page 77



5 | P a g e  
 

 16 local planning authorities have had less than five years housing land 
supply for three or more consecutive years. 

 
To this end, it is clear that difficulties in relation to housing delivery is a national 
issue and not exclusive to the Brecon Beacons National Park Area.  Indeed, the 
figures for 2016 show that housing land supply as reported in JHLASs has declined 
for many LPAs, including for some with recently adopted Local Development Plans. 
Research commissioned by the Welsh Government (Longitudinal viability study of 
the planning process undertaken by Arcadis (UK) Ltd) indicates that one of the 
main reasons is the allocation of sites for housing which are essentially 
undeliverable or only likely to come forward at later stages of the LDP period. 
Viability was identified as a key reason for delays in delivery, covering issues such 
as affordable housing requirements, sites being located in low value market areas, 
poor quality sites or specific infrastructure requirements. 
 
It should also be noted that the Authority has commissioned work to be 
undertaken in the form of a Housing Needs assessment.  This will form a key piece 
of evidence as the Authority moves towards the LDP Review and will set out 
options relating to our housing requirements up to 2032.  

Recommendation: 
The annual indicators suggest that housing completions are not up to the level 
required.  Further research and investigation is required as follows: 
 

• Continuation of comparison research with other Local Planning 
Authorities into the delivery of housing 

 
Figure 3 

Number of units granted and completed in each settlement tier 

Completed/ 
Policy 

Reserach 

Third Monitoring Period 
 
Permissions 
Brecon Primary Key Settlement: 2% 
Key Settlements: 48% 
Settlements: 13%  
Limited Growth Settlements: 7% 
Countryside: 9% 
Allocated Brownfield Sites: 21% 
 
Completions 2016-2017 
Brecon 6% (3) 
Key Settlements 8% (4) 
Settlements: 61% (32) 
Limited Growth Settlements 6% (3) 
Countryside: 19% (10) 
Allocated Brownfield Sites: 0 
 

Second Monitoring Period 
 
Permissions 
Brecon Primary Key Settlement: 14% 
Key Settlements: 41% 

Page 78



6 | P a g e  
 

Settlements: 35%  
Limited Growth Settlements: 5% 
Countryside: 5% 
Allocated Brownfield Sites: 0 
 
Completions 2015-2016 
Brecon-9% 
Key Settlements 9% 
Settlements: 54% 
Limited Growth Settlements 20% 
Countryside: 9% 
Allocated Brownfield Sites: 0 

First Monitoring Period: 
 
Permissions 
Brecon Primary Key Settlement: 1% 
Key Settlements: 8% 
Settlements: 88%  
Limited Growth Settlements: 3% 
Countryside: 0 
Allocated Brownfield Sites: 0 
 
Completions 2013-2014 
Brecon-0 
Key Settlements 0 
Settlements: 45% 
Limited Growth Settlements 0 
Countryside: 55% 
Allocated Brownfield Sites: 0 
 
Completions 2014-2015 
Brecon-0 
Key Settlements 14% 
Settlements: 16% 
Limited Growth Settlements 24% 
Countryside: 46% 
Allocated Brownfield Sites: 0 
 

Comments:  
Permissions: 
One of the objectives of the LDP is to encourage development in sustainable 
locations near facilities and services therefore minimising the need to travel, whilst 
also respecting the National Park purposes and special qualities.  It is therefore 
encouraging to see the continuation of the majority of residential units granted 
planning permission being located within either the Primary Key Settlement of 
Brecon or the Key Settlements of Crickhowell, Hay-On-Wye, Talgarth and 
Sennybridge and Defynnog. 
 
This is a three year indicator with an assessment trigger of more than 50% of 
dwellings granted planning permission being outside the Primary Key and Key 
Settlements.  Since the commencement of monitoring in December 2013 a total 

Page 79



7 | P a g e  
 

of 499 dwellings have been granted planning permission – 209 of which located 
within the Primary Key and Key Settlements.  This equates to 42% which falls 8% 
below the assessment target figure.   
 
It is reasonable to suggest that the proportion of development that at this time 
has been granted planning permission (and completed) in the Primary Key 
Settlement of Brecon is relatively low.  This has not been helped by the recent 
refusal of an application relating to allocated site CS132 Land Opposite the High 
School (indicatively for 137 dwellings) by reason of an insufficient provision of 
Affordable Housing.  Furthermore, the granting of planning permission on 
relatively large allocated sites at CS102 Dan Y Bryn and Lancaster Drive (112 units) 
and CS66 Cwrt Y Gollen (70) within a Level 3 Settlement and Allocated Brownfield 
Site respectively has served to skew the figures somewhat. 
 
However, it should be noted that a significant barrier for development in Brecon 
has been a lack of capacity within Dwr Cymru Welsh Water’s sewerage and water 
infrastructure.  It is envisaged that this issue will be largely addressed by March 
2018 further to the completion of their asset management programme.   Indeed, 
applications and pre-application enquiries have been received in relation to a 
number of the allocated sites in readiness for the March 2018 date with a view to 
progressing these up to and beyond the stage where the infrastructure works are 
completed. 
 
Nevertheless, a notable shift and improvement has occurred since the first  
monitoring period (December 2013-March 2015).  Since allocated site CS102 in 
Gilwern was granted planning permission during that monitoring period, a number 
of allocated sites within Key Settlements have been progressed in the two more 
recent monitoring periods.  These are: 

 SALT 061 Land at Llangenny Lane, Crickhowell  

 DBR-HOW-A Land Opposite the Meadows, Hay-On-Wye 

 DBR-CR-A Land above the Televillage, Crickhowell  
 
Completions: 
This indicator requires the following locational proportion of completions: 
 

 Primary Key Settlement – 31% 

 Key Settlements – 16% 

 Settlements – 36% 

 Allocated Brownfield Sites – 17% 
 
The percentage (and number) of completions per settlement tier for the years 
since the adoption of the LDP is set out in the table below: 
 

Year Number % within 
Primary 
Settlement 
(number) 

% within 
Key 
Settlement 
(number)  

% within 
Settlement 
(number) 

% within 
Allocated 
Brownfield 
(number) 

2013/14 64 0 (0) 0 (0) 45 (29) 0 (0) 

2014/15 45 0 (0) 14 (6) 16 (7) 0 (0) 

2015/16 58 9 (5) 9 (5) 54 (31) 0 (0) 

2016/17 52 6 (3) 8 (4) 61 (32) 0 (0) 

Page 80



8 | P a g e  
 

TOTAL 219 3.7% 6.8% 45.2% 0% 

 
The monitoring framework states that assessment shall be triggered for this 
indicator if less than 50% of dwelling completions occur within the Primary Key 
Settlement and Key Settlements over a 3 year period.  The above table illustrates 
that only 10.5% of completions occurred within the top two tiers of the settlement 
hierarchy. 
 
Clearly, the requirements of this indicator have not been met.  However, it should 
be noted that significant allocations within Brecon have not being progressed 
largely due to the water infrastructure capacity issue which is due to be addressed 
by Dwr Cymru Welsh Water in March 2018.  Furthermore, allocated sites within 
Crickhowell and Hay-On-Wye, yielding 122 dwellings, are currently under 
construction but no completions were recorded in the most recent Joint Housing 
Land Availability Study.   
 
To this end, it is expected that significant progress will be made on completions 
within the top two tiers of the settlement hierarchy.  These completions will be 
collated as part of the 2018 Joint Housing Land Availability Study and recorded in 
next year’s AMR. 
 
It should be noted that the completions data does not correlate particularly well 
with the permissions data.  This is partly due to the infrastructure reasons set out 
above, but also due to the fact that the Authority has limited control in terms of 
the implementation of schemes once planning permission has been granted (and 
the location of these schemes within the settlement hierarchy for that matter).  To 
this end, it is suggested that the completions element of this indicator has limited 
scope beyond ‘for information’ purposes. 
 

Recommendation: 
Whilst the time period for this indicator has been completed, it is necessary to 
continue monitoring the indicator throughout the LDP Review. 
 
Given the improved proportionality over the two most recent monitoring periods 
as a result of the progression of allocated sites within the Key Settlements over 
the last two monitoring periods, together with the proposed infrastructure 
improvements scheduled for Brecon in March 2018, it is reasonable to suggest 
that the figures reported during the first monitoring period were anomalous.  It is 
acknowledged, however, that these figures contributed to a 3 year return of 8% 
below the policy target of 50%. 
 
It is recommended that the monitoring relating to the location of dwellings within 
the settlement hierarchy is continued and the landowners of allocated sites 
(without planning permission) within the Primary Key Settlement and Key 
Settlements are contacted with a view to ascertaining the likely timescales for the 
progression of their sites. 
 
Of course, as part of the Review process, the Authority will have to consider 
whether allocated sites that remain without an effective planning permission 
remain a deliverable prospect.  The potential consequence for such sites is de-
allocation.     

Page 81



9 | P a g e  
 

 
 
Figure 4 

Number of dwellings granted consent on mixed use sites   

Continue 
Monitoring 

Third Monitoring Period 
68 Dwellings granted planning permission on mixed use sites. 

Second Monitoring Period 
0 Dwellings granted planning permission on mixed use sites. 

First Monitoring Period: 
0 Dwellings granted planning permission on mixed use sites. 

Comments: 
Outline planning permission has been granted for an indicative number of 68 
dwellings and employment facilities at the Former Army Camp, Cwrt-Y-Gollen 
(CS66).   
 
Development Briefs have also been submitted on the following mixed use sites: 

 SALT 037 – Proposed extension to T9, Talgarth (15 dwellings) – Adopted 
and application submitted for 15 dwellings and planning permission 
granted for school 

 CS66 - Former Army Camp, Cwrt-Y-Gollen (70) – Adopted and application 
approved 

 CS132 – Land Opposite High School, Brecon (137) – Adopted but 
application refused 

 
The submission of a development brief relating to the single remaining allocated 
mixed use site at the Former Mid Wales Hospital is expected to be submitted 
during the Autumn of 2017.   

Recommendation: 
There is no assessment trigger for this indicator.  Accordingly, this will be 
monitored over the remainder of the plan period.   

 
Figure 5 

All applications granted planning consent to achieve a density of 30 dwellings per hectare  

Policy Research Third Monitoring Period 
11 residential permissions were granted below 20 dwellings per hectare 
11 residential permissions were granted at 20-30 dwellings per hectare 
5 residential permissions of residential applications were granted at 30    
dwellings per hectare 

Second Monitoring Period 
10  residential permissions were granted below 20 dwellings per hectare 
4 residential permissions were granted at 20-30 dwellings per hectare 
3 residential permissions of residential applications were granted at 30 dwellings 
per hectare 

First Monitoring Period: 
16 of residential permissions were granted below 20 dwellings per hectare 
5 residential permissions were granted at 20-30 dwellings per hectare 
5 residential permissions of residential applications were granted at 30 dwellings 
per hectare 

Comment: 
Policy 61 of the Local Development Plan relates to dwelling density and states 
that: 

Page 82



10 | P a g e  
 

 
 “All residential development will be required to be developed at a minimum 
density of 30 dwellings to the hectare, where this is compatible with the existing 
character of the area. 
 
Only where it is proven that this density cannot be achieved due to the 
incorporation of measures to improve the sustainability of the scheme which 
cannot be located on land outside of the allocation, will levels less than the 
minimum target be permissible.”  
 
Clearly, there is some flexibility in this policy that would allow development to 
be approved at a level of density below 30 dwellings per hectare, such as the 
character of the surrounding area. Furthermore, there have been instances 
where a lower level of density has been agreed due to abnormal conditions on 
site – topography and access constraints for example. 
 
It was recommended in the Report for the first monitoring period that: 
 
“The indicator suggests that this policy is not wholly being implemented as 
required.  However, it must be noted that there is flexibility within the policy that 
allows development to take place at a density below 30 dwellings per hectare.  
Accordingly, further research is required in relation to the following: 

 Investigation into the number of allocated sites that have been granted 
planning permission at a density of below 30 dwellings per hectare 

 Determine the specific reasons for allowing a lower level of dwelling 
density 

 
Depending on the results of this policy research, it may be required that 
Development Management Officers and Authority Members are provided with 
additional training in relation to the requirements of Policy 61.  A further 
consideration will be the development of an additional piece of Supplementary 
Planning Guidance to address the issue of dwelling density and mix on housing 
and mixed-use allocations.” 
 
Further to this recommendation, an examination of the relevant application 
proposals was carried out and it was determined that all fell within the tolerance 
of Policy 61.  That is, it is reasonable to suggest that planning permission was 
only granted for development proposals below a density of 30dph in instances 
where it could not be achieved or that a 30+dph density would not be 
compatible with the surroundings of the particular site. 
  
Notwithstanding this, Development Management Officers were provided with 
training from the Strategy and Policy Team to ensure that the policy was being 
interpreted appropriately.   
 

Recommendation: 
The indicator suggests that this policy is not wholly being implemented as 
required.  However, it must be noted that there is flexibility within the policy 
that allows development to take place at a density below 30 dwellings per 
hectare.  Accordingly, further research is required to determine the specific 
reasons for allowing a lower level of dwelling density. 

Page 83



11 | P a g e  
 

 

 
 
 
Figure 6 

Affordable Housing percentage target  

Continue 
Monitoring 

Third Monitoring Period 
The Land registry House Price Index for Merthyr Tydfil demonstrates that there 
has been a +1.4% change in house prices for the period of this AMR.  

Second Monitoring Period 
The Land registry House Price Index for Merthyr Tydfil demonstrates that there 
has been a -1.75% change in house prices for the period of this AMR.  However 
average house prices remain above those experienced in the region on the 
adoption of the LDP in December 2013. 

First Monitoring Period: 
Data from the Land Registry and derived from the Development Appraisal Toolkit 
suggests that house prices have risen somewhere between 9 and 17% in the 
Heads of the Valleys sub-market area during 2012-15. 

Comment: 
The assessment trigger for this indicator is a 2.5% change in house prices in the 
Heads of the Valley sub-market area and a 5% change across the rest of the 
National Park area. 

Recommendation: 
Given that the Land Registry data, together with the Development Appraisal 
Toolkit data, suggest a significant overall increase in house prices in the Heads of 
the Valleys area, albeit a reduction in 2015/16, it would be prudent for the 
Authority to consider additional viability testing with a view to modifying the 
Affordable Housing contribution targets (if appropriate) during the Review of the 
Local Development Plan. 

 
Figure 7 

Number of affordable dwellings granted consent  

Continue 
Monitoring 

Third Monitoring Period 
Permission was granted for 63 affordable dwellings.  This accounts for 23% of all 
residential permissions. 

Second Monitoring Period 
Permission was granted for 45 affordable dwellings.  This accounts for 38% of all 
residential permissions. 

First Monitoring Period: 
Permission was granted for 24 affordable dwellings.  This accounts for 17% of all 
residential permissions. 

Comment: 
The target for this indicator is 47 Affordable Housing dwellings to be granted 
planning permission per annum (+/- 30%).  There is also an assessment trigger of 
less than 38 Affordable Housing dwellings being provided annually for 3 
consecutive years.  Accordingly, the annual target has been met and the 3 year 
assessment trigger can be reset. 
 
It should also be noted that Commuted sums ‘committed to’ from planning 
permissions since the adoption of the LDP is £1,049,919.97 

Recommendation: 

Page 84



12 | P a g e  
 

This indicator is to be monitored for a further year. 

 
Figure 8 

Number of affordable dwellings completed 

Continue 
Monitoring 

Third Monitoring Period 
Completions 2016-2017: 24    
 

Second Monitoring Period 
Completions 2015-2016: 10 
 

First Monitoring Period: 
 
Completions 2013-2014 31 
Completions 2014-2015 6 

Comment: 
The second assessment trigger requires in excess of 15 Affordable Housing 
dwellings to be completed annually for three consecutive years.  Accordingly, this 
indicator requires monitoring for a further year acknowledging that only 6 
Affordable Housing dwellings were completed during 2014-15 and 10 for 2015-16. 
 
24 completions were recorded during the monitoring period, exceeding the 
minimum requirements of the indicator.   
 
It should also be noted that 22 units are currently under construction at allocation 
DBR-CR-A Land above the Televillage in Crickhowell and are expected to be 
recorded in next year’s AMR. 
 
Reference is made above to the level of Affordable Housing contributions made 
via a commuted sum payment.  Clearly, there will be a lag period between the 
receipt of such sums and the realisation of these in the form of the development 
of Affordable Housing units on the ground.  Accordingly, there must be some 
acknowledgement of this. 

Recommendation: 
The indicator will continue to be monitored. 

 
Figure 9 

Number of market dwellings coming forward on sites of 3 dwellings or more  

Continue 
Monitoring 

Third Monitoring Period   
23 market units were permitted on 4 separate sites where it was demonstrated 
that the provision of onsite affordable housing was not viable.  This amounts to a 
loss of 19 affordable dwellings. 
There has been a further loss of 21.5 affordable dwellings on sites where some 
onsite provision has been provided, but not the full affordable housing target.  

Second Monitoring Period   
25 units were permitted on 4 separate sites where it was demonstrated that 
provision of affordable housing was not viable.  This amount to a loss of 5 
affordable dwellings 

First Monitoring Period: 
5 permissions (amounting to the loss of 13 Affordable Dwellings on the ground) 
were granted on site for 3 or more dwellings which did not achieve policy levels 
of affordable housing contribution. 

Page 85



13 | P a g e  
 

Comment: 
An assessment of the policy would only be triggered when in excess of 10 market 
dwellings are granted annually for three consecutive years.  Accordingly, 
assessment will not be required for at least a further 2 years. 
 
It should also be noted that planning permissions 15/12262/OUT and 
15/12263/FUL relate to a brownfield site partly within and partly adjacent to the 
Level 4 Limited Growth Settlement of Llangattock (The Cedars and Chestnuts).  
Whilst the proposal for the overall provision of 17 dwellings (including 4 
affordable units) was not wholly in line with adopted policy (to only allow 100% 
affordable housing) in such locations, it was considered that there were material 
considerations of such significance that they outweighed the policy presumption 
against the proposed development.  It is reasonable to suggest, therefore, that 
this scheme is anomalous and the 13 –non-affordable’ units proposed are unlikely 
to set an undesirable precedent in such locations. 
 
The level of equitable commuted sum payments in lieu of on-site contributions 
shall also be taken into account to offset the perceived impact.  Eventually, these 
monies will be utilised exclusively for the provision of Affordable Housing on the 
ground.     
 

REFVAL 
Total 
Units 

Policy 
target 
AH Commentary  

15/12263/FUL 3 3 No affordable housing built on site. No 
commuted sum 

16/13266/FUL 10 10 No affordable housing built on site. 
Commuted sum of £25,000 
 

  

15/12752/FUL 5 5 No affordable housing built on site. No 
commuted sum 

16/14091/FUL 5 1 No affordable housing built on site. No 
commuted sum 

12/08575/OUT 68 (14 
of 

which 
are 
AH) 

20.4 2/3 on site provision and 1/3 commuted 
sum. No figure provided as site at Outline 
stage.  

Page 86



14 | P a g e  
 

15/11904/FUL 27 8.1 8 Affordable Housing Units provided on 
site.  
The sum of £41,402 to be paid to Powys 
County Council to develop the social and 
sporting facilities at Crickhowell High 
School.  

  

15/12262/OUT 17 17 4 Affordable Units provided on site. Loss of 
13 Affordable units. 

 

Recommendation: 
The indicator will continue to be monitored. 

 
 
 
 
Figure 10 

Number of Affordable windfall dwellings  

Continue 
Monitoring 

Third Monitoring Period 
13 Affordable Windfall dwellings  

Second Monitoring Period 
29 Affordable Windfall dwellings 
 

First Monitoring Period: 
4 Affordable Windfall Dwellings 

Comment: 
The annual target of 3 windfall Affordable Housing dwellings being granted 
planning permission per annum has been exceeded for three consecutive years.  It 
should be noted that an assessment will be triggered should fewer than 2 windfall 
Affordable Housing dwellings be granted planning permission annually for three 
consecutive years. 

Recommendation: 
The indicator will continue to be monitored. 

 
Figure 11 

Number of Affordable dwellings on Exception Sites  

Continue 
Monitoring 

Third Monitoring Period 
0 Dwellings granted permission on Affordable Housing Exception sites. 
 

Second Monitoring Period 
0 Dwellings granted permission on Affordable Housing Exception sites. 
 

First Monitoring Period: 
0 Dwellings granted permission on Affordable Housing Exception sites. 

Comment: 
Whilst the annual target of 4 AH dwellings being granted planning permission has 
not been met, it should be noted that this is not as a result of the refusal of any 
planning application.  No ‘exception site’ applications were received during the 
period which, reasonably, can be considered to be beyond the control of the 

Page 87



15 | P a g e  
 

Authority.  Accordingly, given that it relates to ‘exceptional development’, 
consideration will be given to whether this indicator will be monitored in the 
future. 

Recommendation: 
Continue monitoring but consider whether this indicator should continue to be 
monitored in the future. 

 
 
Figure 12 

Occupation of the allocated Gypsy and Traveller site  

Completed 
during 

previous 
monitoring 

period 

The allocated Gypsy and Traveller site has been developed and occupied by the 
family. 

Comment: 
Further to the granting of planning permission on 27th March 2012 for a proposed 
permanent Gypsy and Traveller site 14no. pitches have been developed - 10 of 
which have been occupied with 4 remaining vacant.  The 4 vacant pitches within 
the site have been set out with boundary treatments and foundations.  These will 
be completed to accommodate the future needs of the family at the appropriate 
time. 
 
Approximately a quarter of the allocation area has not been developed (the north 
western end of the site).  It is envisaged that this could accommodate additional 
future growth.  

Recommendation: 
The monitoring framework required this site to be occupied by 2017.  The site has 
already been developed and occupied so no further monitoring is required. 

 
Figure 13 

Supplementary Planning Guidance 

Completed 
during 

previous 
monitoring 

period 

Supplementary Planning Guidance has been produced in relation to the following: 
 

 Affordable Housing 

 Planning Obligations Strategy 

 CYD LP1: Appropriate Development in the Countryside   

Comment: 
In line with the requirements of the Local Development Plan Monitoring 
Framework, Members have endorsed the above pieces of Supplementary Planning 
Guidance.  These three guidance documents take account of and address the 6 
Supplementary Planning Guidance referred to in the ‘Delivering Housing’ section 
of the Local Development Plan Monitoring Framework. 
 

Recommendation: 
The relevant Supplementary Planning Guidance has been completed.  Accordingly, 
no further monitoring is required. 

 
 

Economic Wellbeing 
 
Figure 14 

Development of Employment Land  

Third Monitoring Period 

Page 88



16 | P a g e  
 

Monitoring 
Complete 

 

During the period 1/4/16-31/3/17 permissions were granted for 1.16 hectares of 
B Use Class development falling within allocated employment sites. 
 
A total of 0.8 hectares of employment land has been developed since the adoption 
of the LDP. 

Second Monitoring Period 
During the period 1/4/15-31/3/16 permissions were granted for 0.135 hectares of 
B Use Class development falling within allocated employment sites. 
  

First Monitoring Period: 
Permissions granted for a total of 0.491 Hectares of B Use Class development 
falling within allocated employment sites. 

Comment: 
The trigger for assessment in relation to this indicator is that less than 0.5 hectares 
of employment land allocated is developed by 2017 and 0.75 hectares by the end 
of the Plan period.  As referred to above, a total of 1.786 hectares of employment 
land has been granted planning permission for B1, B2 and B8 uses during the 
monitoring period, with a total of 0.8 hectares being developed to date.   
 
It should also be noted that a total of 0.56 hectares of employment development 
has taken place since the adoption of the LDP – a total of 1.36 hectares overall. 
 
In readiness for the commencement of the LDP Review in December 2017, the 
Authority has commissioned evidence gathering work to commence in the form of 
a comprehensive Employment Land Review.  This will form a key piece of evidence 
for the Review and will set out options relating to the required level of new 
employment land required for allocation for the replacement LDP period of 2017 
to 2032. 
 

Recommendation: 
This indicator requires at least 0.5ha of employment land to be developed by 2017, 
and 0.75 hectares over the Plan period.  Accordingly, the requirements of this 
indicator have been met. 

 
Figure 15 

Loss of Employment Land  

Continue 
Monitoring 

Third Monitoring Period 
0 permissions granted for non-employment uses on allocated or identified 
employment land 

Second Monitoring Period 
0 permissions granted for non-employment uses on allocated or identified 
employment land 

First Monitoring Period 
0 permissions granted for non-employment uses on allocated or identified 
employment land 

Comment: 
None. 

Recommendation: 
The trigger for assessment for this indication is 1 application being granted 
planning permission on existing employment land for non-employment land uses.  

Page 89



17 | P a g e  
 

0 permissions have been granted to date.  Accordingly, this indicator will continue 
to be monitored. 

 
Figure 16 

Employment development in Sennybridge and Defynnog  

Continue 
Monitoring 

Third Monitoring Period 
0 permissions granted for employment generating development within 
Sennybridge 

Second Monitoring Period 
0 permissions granted for employment generating development within 
Sennybridge  

First Monitoring Period: 
0 permissions granted for employment generating development within 
Sennybridge 

Comment: 
This indicator was included as a result of a proposed allocated employment site 
being withdrawn from the Local Development Plan by the landowner during the 
Examination.  An assessment would be triggered if 1.43 ha of employment land is 
not granted planning permission within or beyond the Sennybridge and Defynnog 
settlement by 2017. 
 
It should be noted that the Authority’s Employment Land Review identified a 
requirement to deliver 1.46ha of employment land for the whole National Park 
area up to the end of the Plan period.   

Recommendation: 
This indicator is to be monitored until the end of 2017.  As no permissions have 
been granted for employment land uses to date, the indicator will be monitored 
for a further year or until the monitoring target has been reached. 
 
The matter will also be addressed as part of the LDP Review. 

 
Figure 17 

Employment development in Hay-On-Wye 

Continue 
Monitoring 

Third Monitoring Period 
1 permission has been granted for employment generating development within 
Hay on Wye. 

Second Monitoring Period 
0 permissions granted for employment generating development within Hay on 
Wye 

First Monitoring Period: 
0 permissions granted for employment generating development within Hay on 
Wye 

Comment: 
Planning permission was granted under reference 16/13698/FUL at Unit 3, The 
Basement, Hay-On-Wye for a B1 use.  This equated to a total of 0.05ha of 
employment generating development land.  
 
This indicator was included as a result of planning permission being granted for a 
community use on land allocated for employment use prior to the Adoption of the 
LDP.  An assessment would be triggered if 0.6 ha of employment land is not 

Page 90



18 | P a g e  
 

granted planning permission within or beyond the Hay-on-Wye settlement by 
2017. 
 
It should be noted that the Authority’s Employment Land Review identified a 
requirement to deliver 1.46ha of employment land for the whole National Park 
area up to the end of the Plan period.   
 
In addition, a 4.2 ha mixed use allocation comprising 2.4 ha of employment land is 
proposed to be allocated in Powys County Council’s Deposit Local Development 
Plan.  The site is referred to as Land at Gypsy Castle Lane (Site Ref: MUA 1) is 
located immediately adjacent to the Hay-on-Wye settlement boundary.  It is 
considered that the development of this site would satisfy the requirements of this 
indicator. 

Recommendation: 
This indicator is to be monitored until the end of 2017.  As no permissions have 
been granted for employment land uses to date, the indicator will be monitored 
for a further year or until the monitoring target has been reached. 
 
The matter will also be addressed as part of the LDP Review. 

 
Figure 18 

Supplementary Planning Guidance   

Completed 
during 

previous 
monitoring 

period 

Members have endorsed the Farm Diversification Supplementary Planning 
Guidance for use in the determination of relevant planning applications. 

Comments: 
None. 

Recommendation: 
The relevant Supplementary Planning Guidance has been completed.  Accordingly, 
no further monitoring is required. 

 
 
 

Policy Monitoring  
 
Environmental Protection  
 
Figure 19 

Land in the Countryside lost to development by way of departure from CYD LP1 

Continue 
Monitoring 

Third Monitoring Period 
0 permissions granted by way of departure to CYD LP1 with land in the Countryside 
lost to development. 
 

Second Monitoring Period 
One permission granted by way of departure to CYD LP1 amounting to a Change 
of use of lay by land by virtue of Temporary Consent requested for 3 years - 
positioning of unit (4.175m x 2.02m) for serving snacks/drinks 

First Monitoring Period: 
Temporary permission for siting of shipping containers for storage for Community 
Facility amounting to the temporary loss of 0.15 hectares of countryside. 
 

Page 91



19 | P a g e  
 

Permission granted for the demolition of attached outbuildings, the formal change 
of use of the land upon which they stand to residential, the construction of a 
replacement extension to the existing dwelling and the retention of two windows 
amounting to the loss of 0.01 hectares land designated as countryside. 
 
Permission granted regularising extension of residential curtilage into open 
countryside amounting to the loss of 0.16 hectares land designated as countryside. 
 
In total 0.15Ha temporary loss and 0.17 hectares permanent loss 

Comment: 
Development Management Officers were provided with training from the Strategy 
and Policy Team following the first monitoring period to ensure that the policy was 
being interpreted appropriately.  
 
To this end, it should be noted that instances of departure from this policy reduced 
significantly during the second monitoring period and, for this period, reduced to 
zero.  
 

Recommendation: 
It is recommended that the monitoring of this indicator continues.  

 
 
Figure 20  

Development with an adverse impact on Historic Landscape Designations  

Continue 
Monitoring 

Third Monitoring Period  
No planning permissions have been granted which would result in an adverse 
impact on Historic Landscape Designations. 

Second Monitoring Period  
No planning permissions have been granted which would result in an adverse 
impact on Historic Landscape Designations. 

First Monitoring Period: 
No planning permissions have been granted which would result in an adverse 
impact on Historic Landscape Designations. 

Comments: 
None. 

Recommendation: 
The requirement of this indicator is being met.  It is, however, considered to be an 
important indicator and will continue to be monitored. 

 
Figure 21  

Development with an adverse impact on designated sites for nature conservation 

Continue 
Monitoring 

Third Monitoring Period 
No planning permissions have been granted which would result in an adverse 
impact on sites designated for nature conservation. 

Second Monitoring Period 
No planning permissions have been granted which would result in an adverse 
impact on sites designated for nature conservation. 

First Monitoring Period: 
No planning permissions have been granted which would result in an adverse 
impact on sites designated for nature conservation. 

Comments: 

Page 92



20 | P a g e  
 

None. 

Recommendation: 
The requirement of this indicator is being met.  It is, however, considered to be an 
important indicator and will continue to be monitored. 

 
Figure 22 

Development with an adverse impact on: 
 Listed Building 
 Conservation Area 
 Site/area of Archaeological Significance 
 Historic Landscape, Park and Garden 

Continue 
Monitoring 

Third Monitoring period: 
No relevant planning permissions have been granted. 

Second Monitoring Period 
2 planning permissions have been granted which would have a minor impact on 
the conservation area, and have been permitted against Senior Building 
Conservation Area. 

First Monitoring period: 
No relevant planning permissions have been granted. 

Comments: 
None. 
 

Recommendation: 
The requirement of this indicator is being met.  It is, however, considered to be an 
important indicator and will continue to be monitored. 

 
Figure 23 

Number of Conservation Areas with up-to-date assessments 

Continue 
Monitoring 

3 Conservation Area Assessments completed within the period of this AMR 

Second Monitoring Period   
0 Conservation Area Assessments completed within the period of this AMR. 

First Monitoring Period: 
0 Conservation Area Assessments completed. 

Comment: 
Appraisals have been completed for Brecon, Hay-On-Wye and Talgarth 
Conservation Areas. 
 
The remaining Conservation Area at Crickhowell and Llangattock is currently being 
assessed.  Further to discussion with local stakeholders (Town and Community 
Councils, Civic Society etc.), it has been agreed that the assessment will be taken 
forward as part of the Town/Village Plan process. 
 
Consideration is currently being given to additional conservation area 
designations.  It is anticipated that this will be progressed during 2017. 

Recommendation: 
This assessment will be triggered for this indicator should the Conservation Area 
Assessments not be completed by the end of 2017.  Accordingly, this measure will 
continue to be monitored while the assessment of the Crickhowell and Llangattock 
Conservation Area is carried out. 

   
Figure 24 

Page 93



21 | P a g e  
 

Supplementary Planning Guidance   

Completed in 
part during 

previous 
monitoring 

period. 
 
 

Biodiversity 
Audit 

Completed in 
2016. 

In line with the requirements of the LDP Monitoring Framework, Members have 
endorsed the following Supplementary Planning Guidance for use in the 
determination of relevant planning applications: 

 Obtrusive Lighting 

 Biodiversity Audit 
 
The proposed Supplementary Planning Guidance relating to Best Practice in 
Biodiversity has published and endorsed for use in the determination of relevant 
planning applications.  The publication of this SPG was delayed, due in part to the 
work that has been undertaken to extend the Biodiversity Audit Supplementary 
Planning Guidance to include the remaining Level 2 Key Settlement at Sennybridge 
and Defynnog (which has also been endorsed). 
 

Comment: 
None. 

Recommendation: 
The relevant Supplementary Planning Guidance has been completed.  Accordingly, 
no further monitoring is required. 

 
 

Climate Change, Sustainable Design and Renewable Energy  
Figure 25 

Development in C1 and C2 flood areas not meeting Technical Advice Note 15 tests  

Continue 
Monitoring 

Third Monitoring Period 
0 permission was granted planning permission in a C1 or C2 floodplain area, not 
meeting Technical Advice Note 15 tests. 

Second Monitoring Period 
No permissions were granted planning permission in a C1 or C2 floodplain area, 
not meeting Technical Advice Note 15 tests. 

First Monitoring Period: 
No permissions were granted planning permission in a C1 or C2 floodplain area, 
not meeting Technical Advice Note 15 tests. 

Comments: 
None. 

Recommendation: 
The requirement of this indicator is being met.  It is, however, considered to be an 
important indicator and will continue to be monitored. 

 
Figure 26 

Planning consents contrary to advice of Natural Resources Wales and Dwr Cymru Welsh Water 
regarding water quality/quantity  

Continue 
Monitoring 

Third Monitoring Period  
No permissions granted planning permission contrary to the advice of Natural 
Resources Wales or Dwr Cymru Welsh Water regarding water quality or quantity. 

Second Monitoring Period  
No permissions granted planning permission contrary to the advice of Natural 
Resources Wales or Dwr Cymru Welsh Water regarding water quality or quantity. 

First Monitoring Period: 

Page 94



22 | P a g e  
 

No permissions granted planning permission contrary to the advice of Natural 
Resources Wales or Dwr Cymru Welsh Water regarding water quality or quantity. 

Comments: 
None. 

Recommendation: 
The requirement of this indicator is being met.  It is, however, considered to be an 
important indicator and will continue to be monitored. 

 
Figure 27 

Number of applications which consider climate change adaptation techniques within Design and 
Access Statements  

Continue 
Monitoring 

Third Monitoring Period 
0 applications for major development have been received where climate change 
was not considered within the Design and Access Statement.   

Second Monitoring Period 
0 applications for major development have been received where climate change 
was not considered within the Design and Access Statement.   

First Monitoring Period: 
0 applications for major development have been received where climate change 
was not considered within the Design and Access Statement.   

Comments: 
None. 

Recommendation: 
The requirement of this indicator is being met.  It is, however, considered to be an 
important indicator and will continue to be monitored. 

 
Figure 28 

Number of applications for larger developments that fail to provide 20% of their energy from low 
or zero carbon resources  

Ceased 
Monitoring 
following 
previous 

monitoring 
period 

Ceased monitoring. 

Previous Monitoring Period: 
Residential - The NPA received 6 applications for 3 or more dwellings during the 
period.  Of these applications 0 reached the target of 20% energy needs from 
renewables.  1 achieved 15%, another utilised PV panels to power all shared spaces 
within the redevelopment of a nursing home to market units.  The remaining 3 
applications did not utilised LCZ technology within their design.   
 
Employment Generating – No applications of more than 500sqm floor space 
permitted within the period. 

Comment: 
This indicator arose as a result of the requirements of Policy SP11 (Sustainable 
Development) as it was originally drafted in the Deposit Local Development Plan.  
However, this specific requirement was removed from the policy by the Inspector 
during the Local Development Plan Examination on the basis that it was beyond 
the requirements of National Planning Policy.  The indicator remains in the 
Monitoring Framework by error as it was not picked up during the editing process 
and amended by way of the Matters Arising Changes.   
 
Essentially, there is no policy in the Plan to enforce this requirement and, 
accordingly, it is recommended that this indicator ceases to be monitored.   
 

Page 95



23 | P a g e  
 

Furthermore, there is no longer a requirement for developers to provide an 
assessment under the Code For Sustainable Homes as this is assessed under the 
Building Regulations. 

Recommendation: 
Ceased monitoring following previous monitoring period. 

 
 
Figure 29 

Development of renewable energy schemes  

Continue 
Monitoring 

Third Monitoring Period 
The National Park issued 3 permissions within the period for renewable energy 
schemes (1 consent was for Ground/Water/Air heat pump, 1 hydropower and 1 
solar).  None of these permissions were considered to have a significant adverse 
impact on the special qualities of the National Park. 

Second Monitoring Period 
The National Park issued 11 permissions within the period for renewable energy 
schemes, the majority of these were for small scale hydro schemes.  None of these 
permissions were considered to have a significant adverse impact on the special 
qualities of the National Park.  

First Monitoring Period: 
The National Park issued 22 permissions within the period for renewable energy 
schemes, the majority of these were for small scale hydro schemes.  None of these 
permissions were considered to have a significant adverse impact on the special 
qualities of the National Park. 

Comments: 
None. 

Recommendation: 
The requirement of this indicator is being met.  It is, however, considered to be an 
important indicator and will continue to be monitored. 

 
Figure 30 

Permitted and installed capacity (MW) of renewable electricity and heat projects  

Continue 
Monitoring 

Third Monitoring Period 
Permissions amount to an increase of 0.02 megawatts capacity of energy from 
renewable energy schemes 

Second Monitoring Period 
Permissions amount to an increase of 0.3 megawatts capacity of energy from 
renewable energy schemes 

First Monitoring Period: 
Permissions amount to an increase of 0.41 megawatts capacity of energy from 
renewable energy schemes 

Comments: 
None. 

Recommendation: 
The requirement of this indicator is being met.  It is, however, considered to be an 
important indicator and will continue to be monitored. 

 
Figure 31 

Ecological footprint of listed settlements   

Continue 
Monitoring 

Third Monitoring Period 
This data is unavailable for this year.   

Page 96



24 | P a g e  
 

Second Monitoring Period 
This data is unavailable for this year.    

Previous Monitoring Period: 
This data is unavailable for this year.   

Comments: 
None.  

Recommendation: 
Consider whether it is realistic for the Authority to gather the necessary data for 
this indicator. 

 
Figure 32 

Supplementary Planning Guidance  

Completed 
during 

previous 
monitoring 

period 

In line with the requirements of the Local Development Plan Monitoring 
Framework, Members have endorsed the following Supplementary Planning 
Guidance for use in the determination of relevant planning applications: 

 Sustainable Development in the National Parks of Wales 

 Small Scale Renewable Energy Developments 

Comments: 
None. 

Recommendation: 
The relevant Supplementary Planning Guidance has been completed.  Accordingly, 
no further monitoring is required. 

 

Retail 
Figure 33 

Annual vacancy rates of the Town Centres  

Continue 
Monitoring 

Third Monitoring Period 
Brecon vacancy rate at 7%  
Crickhowell vacancy rate at 3% 
Hay on Wye vacancy rate at 3%  
Talgarth Vacancy rate at 9% 

Second Monitoring Period 
Brecon vacancy rate at 8%  
Crickhowell vacancy rate at 4% 
Hay on Wye vacancy rate at 2%  
Talgarth Vacancy rate at 11%  

First Monitoring Period: 
Brecon vacancy rate at 9%  
Crickhowell vacancy rate at 6% 
Hay on Wye vacancy rate at 2% 
Talgarth Vacancy rate at 8% 

Comment: 
The interim monitoring target for this indicator is to be monitored up to 2017.  
However, the Town Centres have been assessed to provide an update for this 
Annual Monitoring Report. 
 
Vacancy rates in the Primary Key Settlement of Brecon are on course to reach the 
target of below 10%.  A 7% rate was recorded when the assessments took place 
earlier this year – reduced from 9% and then 8% during the first two monitoring 
periods.  
 

Page 97



25 | P a g e  
 

At 3%, Hay-on-Wye is also on course to meet the vacancy target of below 5%. 
 
Talgarth has a significantly higher target of 25%, but is easily on course to achieve 
this having returned a vacancy figure of 9%. 
 
At 3%, Crickhowell is on course to meet its vacancy target of below 5%.  

Recommendation: 
This indicator will be monitored for a further year. 

 

Sustainable Tourism 
Figure 34 

Number of new or improved tourism facilities  

Continue 
Monitoring 

Third Monitoring Period 
The NPA granted 13 planning permissions within the period for new or improved 
tourism facilities. 

Second Monitoring Period 
The NPA granted 7 planning permissions within the period for new or improved 
tourism facilities. 

First Monitoring Period: 
1 new tourism facility granted planning permission within the period (Bryncoch 
fishing and campsite) 

Comments: 

Address Ref Description of Development 

Penuel Chapel,  
Bwlch,  Brecon , Powys , 
LD3 7RQ 

15/12623/FUL 
 

Change of use of a chapel to a 3 
bed residential house, a 5 bed self 
catering accommodation/guest 
house and commercial kitchen for 
outside catering business 

Llwyn Franc 
Farm,  Llanvihangel 
Crucorney,  NP7 8EN 

16/13519/FUL 
 

Conversion of an existing stable 
block into 2no. holiday let units 
consisting of one 2 bed and one 3 
bed wheelchair accessible unit. 
 

4 The 
Forestry,  Trecastle,  Bre
con,  LD3 8YA 

16/14264/FUL 
 

Conversion of existing garden store 
to single holiday let unit 
 

Land At Onnen Fawr 
Crai 
Brecon 
Powys 
LD3 8PY 
 

17/14343/FUL 
 

Change of use of agricultural land to 
camping site for 3 non-permanent 
shepherds huts  
 

Land Opposite Hendre  
The Bank 
Talgarth 
LD3 0BN 

17/14349/FUL 
 

Erection of 2, single-storey holiday 
chalets 
 

The Manse 
Station Road 
Gilwern 
Monmouthshire 
NP7 0BY 

16/14267/FUL 
 

Proposed holiday letting unit in 
garden 
 

Page 98



26 | P a g e  
 

Braeriach  
2 Camden Crescent 
Brecon 
LD3 7BY 
 

16/14255/FUL 
 

Conversion of outbuilding to holiday 
letting accommodation, including 
front extension. 
 

Trwyn Tal 
Capel-y-Ffin 
Nr Abergavenny 
Powys 
NP7 7NP 
 

16/13701/FUL 
 

Change of use of building from 
ancillary residential 
accommodation to enable either 
self-catering holiday 
accommodation or serviced holiday 
accommodation 
 

Camp Cynrig 
Cantref 
Brecon 
LD3 8LR 
 

16/13977/FUL 
 

Provision of Shepherds Hut for 
tourism use 
 

Sycamore Barn  
Tyfry Farm  
Hillside 
Llangattock 
NP8 1LH 
 

16/13804/FUL 
 

Change of use of a redundant barn 
known as Sycamore Barn and the 
plot it occupies to Holiday Cottage 
let. 
 

Tyr y Wen Farm  
Great Triley Road 
Triley 
Llantilio Pertholey 
NP7 8AU 
 

16/14280/FUL 
 

For the conversion of an existing 
workshop building into a two-bed 
holiday let and for the construction 
of a two-bay garage / carport 
incorporating a home office 
 

Nantmoel Farm  
Swansea Road To 
Nantmoel Farm 
Llwydcoed 
Aberdare 
CF44 0PJ 
 

16/13836/FUL 
 

Conversion of Barn into two Holiday 
Cottages with adjoining Bike 
storage, Parking Facilities together 
with External Works and works to 
access 
 

Land At Gilestone Farm  
Talybont-On-Usk 
Brecon 
LD3 7JE 

16/13735/FUL 
 

Three proposed units of holiday 
accommodation and installation of 
sewage treatment plant 
 

 

Recommendation: 
The requirement of this indicator is being met.  It is, however, considered to be an 
important indicator and will continue to be monitored. 

 
 

Sustainable Communities 
Figure 35 

Number of applications approved resulting in the loss of community facilities  

Continue 
Monitoring 

Third Monitoring Period 
No applications approved contrary to Strategic Policy SP15 and the protective aim 
of Policy 50 resulting in the loss of community facilities 

Page 99



27 | P a g e  
 

Second Monitoring Period 
No applications approved contrary to Strategic Policy SP15 and the protective aim 
of Policy 50 resulting in the loss of community facilities 

First Monitoring Period: 
No applications resulting in the loss of a community facility. 

Comments: 
None. 

Recommendation: 
The requirement of this indicator is being met.  It is, however, considered to be an 
important indicator and will continue to be monitored. 

 

Infrastructure 
Figure 36 

Amount of new development providing SUDS 

Continue 
Monitoring 

Third Monitoring Period 
All relevant applications approved considered the requirement for SUDS. 

Second Monitoring Period 
All relevant applications approved considered the requirement for SUDS.  

First Monitoring Period: 
The data is not readily available at this time. 

Comment: 
There has been development granted planning permission within the period 
utilising Sustainable Drainage Systems. In consultation with the constituent 
drainage authority and Dwr Cymru Welsh Water, other means of the disposal of 
surface water is considered in cases where SUDS aren’t possible. 
 
It is advocated in Technical Advice Note 12: Design that criteria for development 
layout and approaches that can be included within a design could include 
sustainable drainage measures through layout and design features which enable 
the consequences of flooding to be acceptably managed.   
 
An appropriate way of justifying the appropriate means of dealing with surface 
water would be within an accompanying Design and Access Statement.  However, 
the secondary legislation arising from the Planning (Wales) Act 2015 has 
determined that a DAS is no longer required for planning applications unless they 
fall within the ‘Major’ category (i.e. 10 dwellings or more).   
 
On the basis that relevant minor applications will be determined in consultation 
with the relevant drainage authority and DCWW in any event, it is considered that 
Figure 26 above provides an appropriate indicator for monitoring this issue.  
Accordingly, it is recommended that Figure 36 will continue to be monitored, but 
specifically in relation to major applications where a DAS has been submitted 
addressing, amongst other matters, sustainable drainage. 

Recommendation: 
This is considered to be an important indicator and will continue to be monitored 
in relation to major planning applications. 

 

Waste 
Figure 37 

Amount of vacant units within the identified B Class sites suitable to accommodate a local waste 
facility 

Page 100



28 | P a g e  
 

Continue 
Monitoring 

Third Monitoring Period 
2 vacant units in Ffrwdgrech Industrial Estate, Brecon (total of 417.4 m2) 
2 vacant units Granada Park Crickhowell, (total of 258.3 m2)  

Second Monitoring Period 
0.5Ha Vacant Land Brecon and 5 vacant units (total of 540.3 m2) 
0.1Ha Vacant Land Talgarth and 1 unit (324.8m2)  
20 vacant units Granada Park Crickhowell, (total of 0.27Ha)  
1 vacant unit Forest Road Hay (101.71m2)  

First Monitoring Period: 
0.5Ha Vacant Land Brecon 
0.1Ha Vacant Land Talgarth and 1 unit (316m2)  
6 vacant units Granada Park Crickhowell, total of( 758m2) 

Comments: 
It should be noted that the vacant land identified within Brecon has been subject 
to a planning permission for the development of a new B1 unit which was granted 
planning permission on the 12th April 2016.  Development has commenced on this 
site and, consequently, this land will not be ‘available’ to accommodate a local 
waste facility next year. 

Recommendation: 
The requirement of this indicator is being met.  It is, however, considered to be an 
important indicator and will continue to be monitored. 

 
Figure 38 

Number of new licensed waste management facilities permitted 

Continue 
Monitoring 

Third Monitoring Period 
No permissions granted within the period for new waste management facilities. 

Second Monitoring Period 
No permissions granted within the period for new waste management facilities. 

First Monitoring Period: 
No permissions granted within the period for new waste management facilities. 

Comments: 
The Authority will make contact with Constituent Unitary Authorities to enquire 
whether any consents have been issued beyond the boundary that would cater for 
National Park residents’ requirements. 

Recommendation: 
This indicator will be monitored for a further year until 2017. 

 

Minerals 
Figure 39 

Number of consents for permanent, sterilising development within a minerals safeguarding area 

Continue 
Monitoring 

Third Monitoring Period 
No permanent sterilising development has been permitted within mineral 
safeguarding areas. 

Second Monitoring Period 
No permanent sterilising development has been permitted within mineral 
safeguarding areas.  

First Monitoring Period: 
No permanent sterilising development has been permitted within mineral 
safeguarding areas. 

Comments: 
None. 

Page 101



29 | P a g e  
 

Recommendation: 
The requirement of this indicator is being met.  It is, however, considered to be an 
important indicator and will continue to be monitored. 

 

 
Site Monitoring 
As part of the Annual Monitoring Report process, the Authority has agreed to include an update on 
the progress and development of allocated sites.  The intention is to highlight the activity that has 
taken place, including the preparation of studies, applications and/or the progression of development.  
Accordingly, the table set out below seeks to illustrate the progress of allocated sites against progress 
milestones: 
 
Figure 41 

Site Indicati
ve no. 
of units 

Development 
Brief 
Submitted 

Development 
Brief Agreed 

 Applica
tion 
Submit
ted 

Minded 
to 
Permit 
subject 
to S106 

Planning 
Consent 

Commenced 
Development 

 
First 5 Years 

CS28 – 
Cwmffaldau 
Fields 
Extension, 
Brecon 

66 N/A N/A  No    

CS132 - Land 
Opposite High 
School, Brecon 

30 Yes  Yes  Yes  Refused  

SALT 061 – 
Land Adj to 
Llangenny 
Lane, 
Crickhowell 

20 N/A N/A  Yes Yes Yes Yes 

DBR-HOW-A – 
Land Opposite 
the Meadows, 
Hay 

62 N/A N/A  Yes Yes  Yes Yes 

SALT 059 – 
Land adj. 
Brecon 
Pharmaceutica
ls, Hay 

5 N/A N/A  Yes    

SALT 037 – 
Proposed 
extension to 
T9, Talgarth 

15 Yes Yes  Yes No No  

DBR-BCH-J - 
Land adj Bwlch 
Woods, Bwlch 

15 N/A N/A  No    

Page 102



30 | P a g e  
 

CS102 – Dan-Y-
Bryn and 
Lancaster 
Drive, Gilwern 

112 N/A N/A  Yes Yes Yes Yes 

DBR-LIB-E – 
Land adj. to 
Pen Y Fan 
Close, Libanus 

3 N/A N/A  Yes Yes Yes No 

DBR-LBD-A – 
Land adj. St 
Peter’s Close 

8 N/A N/A  Yes Yes Yes Yes 

DBR-LGN-D – 
Land opposite 
Llanigon 
Primary 
School, 
Llanigon 

10 N/A N/A  No    

DBR-LPD-A – 
Land off Heol 
St Cattwg, 
Llanspyddid 

10 N/A N/A  Yes Yes Yes No 

DBR-PNT-D – 
Land adj 
Ambleside, 
Pennorth 

6 N/A N/A  No    

CS66 – Former 
Army Camp, 
Cwrt Y Gollen 

70 Yes Yes  Yes Yes Yes  

 
Rest of LDP Period 

CS93 – Slwch 
House Field, 
Brecon 

23 N/A N/A  No    

DBR-BR-A – 
Site Located 
North of 
Camden 
Crescent, 
Brecon 

38 N/A N/A  No    

DBR-BR-B – 
Land north of 
Cradoc Close, 
Brecon 

33 N/A N/A  No    

CS132 – Land 
opposite High 
School, Brecon 

107 Yes Yes  Yes  Refused  

DBR-CR-A – 
Land above 
Televillage, 
Crickhowell 

20 N/A N/A  Yes Yes Yes Yes  

Page 103



31 | P a g e  
 

 
 
The First 5 Years 
It is noted that 10 sites for this period have been progressed to the planning application stage, with 4 
developers having commenced development on site.  In line with the recommendations of previous 
AMRs, Officers wrote to landowners to advise them that failure to progress allocated sites through 
the planning system may result in their de-allocation during the Review stage.  All landowners 
responded positively to the letter and stated that the sites will be progressed to the application stage 
in the near future.  Indeed, a further 6 applications have been submitted for consideration with a 
further site the subject of a pre-application enquiry. 
 
The Rest of the Plan Period 
As expected, there has been less activity in relation to these sites with four being progressed to an 
application stage – one is minded to permit subject to a Section 106 Agreement and two have been 
permitted.  Of the two permissions granted, one has commenced development on site.  Whilst it is 

CS138 – 
Glannau Senni, 
Defynnog 

15 N/A N/A  No    

DBR-HOW-C – 
Land adj Fire 
Station 

13        

CS42 – Land at 
Crai, Crai 

9 N/A N/A  Yes Yes No  

CS43 – Land 
SW of Gwalia, 
Crai 

6 N/A N/A  No    

CS39/69/70/8
8/89/99 – Land 
at Ty Clyd, 
Govilon 

93 N/A N/A  Yes Yes Yes 
(part of 
site) 

 

CS120 – Land 
South of Ty 
Melys, Pencelli 

6 N/A N/A  No    

CS55 – Land at 
Penygarn, 
Pontsticill 

6 N/A N/A  No     

DBR-PTSC/C – 
Land at end of 
Dan-Y-Coed, 
Pontsticill 

3 N/A N/A  No  
 

   

CS91 – Land 
west of 
Ponsticill 
House, 
Pontsticill 

6 N/A N/A  No     

CS127 – 
Maesmawr 
Farm, Talybont 

57 N/A N/A  No    

CS111 – 
Former Mid 
Wales Hospital 

93 No No  No    

Page 104



32 | P a g e  
 

appreciated that a number of these sites are restricted by a lack of water infrastructure, Officers 
intend to contact the landowners in order to seek an update together with a likely timeframe for the 
progression of the site through the planning process. 
 
Mixed Use Sites 
Looking at the allocated mixed use sites (Mid Wales Hospital, Cwrt Y Gollen, Hay Road and Land 
Opposite High School), it should be noted that paragraph 7.2.1 of the Local Development Plan requires 
development briefs to be agreed on site prior to the submission of any planning application.  
Accordingly, Briefs have been agreed on Cwrt Y Gollen, Hay Road and Land Opposite High School. 
 
The only remaining brief to be submitted relates to the former Mid Wales Hospital site.  A significant 
amount of pre-application advice has been provided in relation to this particular site and discussions 
have taken place with regard to the required content and make-up of any draft brief.  The Authority 
is currently awaiting the submission of the brief and a reasonable expectation would be the 
submission of a draft by the end of 2017.  It should be noted that a draft scope for the Brief has been 
agreed in principle with the Authority’s Strategy and Policy Team.   

 
 
Recommendations 
 
Monitoring Complete 
The requirements of a number of the indicators were met during the first monitoring phase of the 
Local Development Plan and, accordingly, these no longer require monitoring.  These were: 
 

 Occupation of the allocated Gypsy and Traveller site; and 

 Supplementary Planning Guidance relating to: 
o Affordable Housing 
o Planning Obligations 
o Appropriate Development in the Countryside 
o Farm Diversification 
o Obtrusive Lighting 
o Sustainable Development in the National Parks of Wales 
o Small Scale Renewable Energy Developments 
o Minerals Safeguarding 

 
 
During the second monitoring period, the requirements of the following indicators were met: 
 

 The review of the Brecon, Talgarth and Hay-On-Wye Conservation Areas  

 Supplementary Planning Guidance relating to:  
o The Biodiversity Audit 
o Biodiversity 

 
During the 2016/17 monitoring period, the requirements of the following indicators were met: 

 0.75 Hectares of allocated employment land developed 
  

 
Cease Monitoring 
It is also recommended during the first monitoring phase that monitoring ceases in relation to the 
following indicator: 
 

Page 105



33 | P a g e  
 

 Number of applications for larger developments that fail to provide 20% of their energy from 
low or zero carbon resources 

 
It was considered that the low and zero carbon indicator is not an appropriate measuring tool in that 
it does not relate to any specific policies within the Local Development Plan.  That is, there are no 
policies or signposts in the Local Development Plan that prompt applicants meet the 20% Low Zero 
Carbon energy target.   
 
This indicator arose as a result of the requirements of Policy SP11 (Sustainable Development) as it was 
originally drafted in the Deposit Local Development Plan.  However, this specific requirement was 
removed from the policy by the Inspector during the Local Development Plan Examination on the basis 
that it was beyond the requirements of National Planning Policy.  The indicator remains in the 
Monitoring Framework by error as it was not picked up during the editing process and amended by 
way of the Matters Arising Changes.  Nevertheless, numerous Climate Change, Sustainable Design and 
Renewable Energy indicators have continued to be monitored in addition to the monitoring 
requirements of the Strategic Environmental Assessment. 
 
For the second and third monitoring phases, it was recommended that monitoring continued on all of 
the relevant indicators (save for those where the requirements are complete as set out above). 
 
 
Future Monitoring and Additional Work  
Work Arising from Previous Monitoring Periods 
Following the first monitoring phase it was determined that the vast majority of the indicators, as 
required by the Local Development Plan Monitoring Framework, will continue to be monitored.  Of 
these, there were a small number that required some additional work in the form of policy research, 
Supplementary Planning Guidance and Officer/Member training which was carried out during the 
second monitoring phase. 
 
The first indicator requiring additional policy research relates to the number of consents granted and 
dwellings completed annually.   
 
Some comparison research with other Local Planning Authorities at the time into the delivery of 
housing will be beneficial in terms of providing a wider context and an understanding of the issues 
across Wales.  A study of the Constituent Authorities together with the other two National Park 
Authorities should provide an appropriately wide sample.  Whilst this has not been carried out as 
described to date, analysis of the availability of land for housing delivery across Wales showed that 17 
of the 25 Planning Authority did not at that time have a 5 year supply (with the Wales average being 
3.9 years supply).  Given that 22 of the 25 Authorities had a current development plan at the time (not 
all of which are Local Development Plans), this suggested that there was a widespread issue with 
regard to housing delivery. 
 
Following the first phase of monitoring it was reasonable to suggest that the implementation of the 
Local Development Plan’s Strategy was progressing well.   Whilst it is acknowledged that this was the 
first Annual Monitoring Report for the Local Development Plan and that a number of allocated sites 
are being progressed, the speed of this progression and the number of sites not progressed to the 
application stage should be noted.  Accordingly, further investigation to determine the reasons why 8 
of the 14 allocations for the first 5 years of the plan period have not been progressed was 
recommended to be undertaken.  Accordingly, officers made direct contact with the landowners with 
a view to receiving and update as well as taking the opportunity to advise them that the Authority will 
consider the removal of their site from the Local Development Plan during the Review, if it is not 

Page 106



34 | P a g e  
 

progressed during the first 5 years of the plan period.  Officers were advised by the relevant 
landowners that the sites will be progressed in the near future and, in fact, one application was 
subsequently submitted during the second monitoring period. 
 
Turning to the indicator requiring all applications granted planning consent to achieve a density of 
30 dwellings per hectare, some additional policy research into the following was required following 
the first monitoring period: 

 The number of allocated sites (specifically) that have been granted planning permission at a 
density below 30 dwellings per hectare; and 

 Determine specific reasoning for allowing a lower density. 
 
As referred to above, the provision of additional training and Supplementary Planning Guidance was 
recommended in relation to this particular issue.  This, however, was be dependant of the results 
yielded from the suggested research. 
 
The research found that the policy was being implemented correctly by officers.  Nevertheless, officer 
training was provided by the Strategy and Policy team to ensure that all officers (particularly new 
members of staff) were aware of the potential implications to the LDP.  
 
The final indicator requiring additional policy research following the first phase of monitoring was the 
Affordable Housing percentage contribution targets for the three sub-market areas within the 
National Park.  Raw data derived from the Land Registry and Development Appraisal Toolkit suggested 
that land values have increased since the adoption of the Local Development Plan.  Given the potential 
positive effects in relation to the viability of developments, it would be prudent for the Authority to 
undertake additional viability testing with a  view to modifying the Affordable Housing contribution 
targets (if appropriate) during the first Review stage. 
 
As a result of the second monitoring phase, further policy research was recommended in relation to 
the following indicators: 
 

 Number of consents granted and completions of dwellings annually 

 Dwelling density 

 Affordable Housing contribution percentage 

 Development with an adverse impact on heritage assets 
 
The annual indicators suggest that housing completions are not up to the level required.  
Accordingly, some further research and investigation is required in the form of undertaking 
comparison research with other Local Planning Authorities into the delivery of housing.  Whilst some 
research has already been carried out as set out above, it is considered that more specific research is 
required in relation to housing delivery across other comparable authority areas.  To this end, the 
2016 Joint Housing Land Availability Studies across Wales show that as at 1 April 2016 19 out of the 
twenty-five local planning authorities were unable to demonstrate a five year housing land supply.  
By comparison, 17 local planning authorities were unable to demonstrate a five year housing land 
supply in 2015, all of which remain without a five year supply in 2016.   Furthermore, 16 local 
planning authorities have had less than five years housing land supply for three or more consecutive 
years. 
 
To this end, it is clear that difficulties in relation to housing delivery is a national issue and not exclusive 
to the Brecon Beacons National Park Area.  Indeed, the figures for 2016 show that housing land supply 
as reported in Joint Housing Land Availability Study reports has declined for many LPAs, including for 
some with recently adopted Local Development Plans. Research commissioned by the Welsh 

Page 107



35 | P a g e  
 

Government (Longitudinal viability study of the planning process undertaken by Arcadis (UK) Ltd) 
indicates that one of the main reasons is the allocation of sites for housing which are essentially 
undeliverable or only likely to come forward at later stages of the LDP period. Viability was identified 
as a key reason for delays in delivery, covering issues such as affordable housing requirements, sites 
being located in low value market areas, poor quality sites or specific infrastructure requirements. 
 
 
The dwelling density indicator again suggests that this policy is not wholly being implemented so far 
as in that not all sites are being developed at a rate of 30 dwellings per hectare.  Of course, it is noted 
that there is flexibility within the policy that allows development to take place at a density below 30 
dwellings per hectare but is would, nevertheless, be prudent to undertake some further research to 
determine the specific reasons for allowing a lower level of dwelling density.  The result of this 
research showed that, once again, the policy is being implemented appropriately.  In each case, the 
lower density provision could be justified by on site environmental constraints and/or local patterns 
in relation to layout and density. 
 
With regard to the Affordable Housing contribution target percentage, the Land Registry data, 
together with the Development Appraisal Toolkit data, suggests a significant overall increase in house 
prices in the Heads of the Valleys area, albeit a reduction in 2015/16.  Accordingly, it would be prudent 
for the Authority to consider additional viability testing with a view to modifying the Affordable 
Housing contribution targets (if appropriate) during the Review of the Local Development Plan.  It 
should be noted that this work has commenced as the Authority has commissioned Dr Andrew Golland 
to carry out the necessary viability testing for the entire National Park Area.  It is envisaged that this 
work will be completed in readiness for the Authority  
 
Clearly, the requirements of the ‘development with an adverse impact on heritage assets’ indicator 
are not wholly being met.  Accordingly, further investigation is required into planning permission 
reference 15/12267/FUL and Advertisement Consent 15/12591/ADV to ascertain the particular 
circumstances of each case.  It was determined in both instances that no additional officer training 
was required in relation to this indicator given that the issues raised were very minor.  
 
Policy Research Arising from the 2016/17 Monitoring Period 
As a result of the third monitoring period, it was determined that further policy research was required 
in relation to the following indicators: 

 Number of consents granted and dwellings completed annually 

 Number of units granted and completed in each settlement tier 

 All applications granted planning consent to achieve a density of 30 dwellings per hectare 
 
The annual indicators suggest that housing completions are not up to the level required.  Further 
research and investigation is therefore required in the form of the continuation of comparison 
research with other Local Planning Authorities into the delivery of housing.  It should also be noted 
that work has been commissioned by the Authority in relation to ‘Housing Need’ scenarios, which will 
form a key piece of evidence for the forthcoming Review of the LDP. 
 
It is also recommended that the monitoring relating to the location of dwellings within the settlement 
hierarchy is continued and the landowners of allocated sites (without planning permission) within the 
Primary Key Settlement and Key Settlements are contacted with a view to ascertaining the likely 
timescales for the progression of their sites.  The Authority notes, however, the constraints associated 
with sewerage and water infrastructure in the Primary Key Settlement of Brecon.  Here, it is envisaged 
that the issues will be addressed further to the completion of Dwr Cymru Welsh Water’s Asset 
Management Programme in March 2018. 

Page 108



36 | P a g e  
 

 
One of the indicators also suggests that the dwelling density policy is not wholly being implemented 
as required.  However, it must be noted that there is flexibility within the policy that allows 
development to take place at a density below 30 dwellings per hectare.  Accordingly, further research 
is required to determine the specific reasons for allowing a lower level of dwelling density.  Previous 
research into this policy (as a result of consents below the 30 dwelling per hectare threshold) 
demonstrated that the policy was, in fact, being implemented as required. 
 
Additional Supplementary Planning Guidance 
As referred to above, depending on the results of the policy research relating to dwelling density, it 
may have been required to develop relevant supplementary guidance.  However, the results of the 
policy research thus far suggested that the policy has been implemented appropriately.   Nevertheless, 
this stance may change further to additional policy research. 
 
There was no additional supplementary planning guidance recommended as a result of the 2015-16 
monitoring phase indicators.  Nevertheless, work had commenced on SPG relating to ‘Householder 
Design’ and ‘Allotments’ as well as the Affordable Housing Strategy, the Hay Town Plan and 
Cerrigcochion Road Development Brief (land opposite the High School, Brecon).  These have now been 
completed and endorsed by Members for use in the determination of relevant planning applications. 
 
At this time, no further Supplementary Planning Guidance is scheduled as a result of performance 
against the monitoring indicators.  Nevertheless, work had commenced on the following by the end 
of the monitoring period: 

 Crickhowell Community Plan 

 Brecon Town Plan 

 Talgarth Town Plan 

 Wellbeing (possible SPG) 
 
 
Officer and Member Training 
No additional Officer and Member training was proposed as a result of the 2015-16 monitoring phase.  
This is also the case for this monitoring phase, save for the potential training in relation to dwelling 
density arising from further research. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 109



37 | P a g e  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendices 
 

1. Joint Housing Land Availability Study 2016 
 
http://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/planning/draft-strategy-and-policy/joint-housing-land-
availability-study-jhlas/ 
 
 

2. Additional SA indicators 
 

SA Topic Indicators  Findings Overall 
Trend  

Climatic 
Factors 

Condition of 
Biological SSSIs  

There are 65 biological SSSIs wholly or partly 
within the National Park boundary with a 
total of 163 individual biological features 
(NRW 2014).  
 
In 2006 there were 82 biological features of 
importance in the National Park, 24(29%) of 
these were in favourable condition,  45 (55%) 
were in unfavourable condition, one (1%) was 
partially destroyed and 12 (15%) were unknown. 
Of the 45 biological features in unfavourable 
condition, 11 (24%) of these were recovering, 11 
(24%) were declining and for 23 (50%) the trend 
was unknown.   
 

Positive 

Page 110

http://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/planning/draft-strategy-and-policy/joint-housing-land-availability-study-jhlas/
http://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/planning/draft-strategy-and-policy/joint-housing-land-availability-study-jhlas/


38 | P a g e  
 

In 2014 there were 163 biological features of 
importance in the National Park, 93 (57%) of 
which were currently in favourable condition, 51 
(31%) were in unfavourable condition and for 19 
(12%) the condition was unknown. 
 
The percentage of features in unfavourable 
condition has reduced significantly and the 
percentage of features in favourable condition 
has significantly increased, which demonstrates a 
very positive trend since 2006.  However, it 
should be noted that there were more biological 
features in unfavourable condition in 2014 than 
there were in 2006, due in part to the total 
number of biological features doubling since 
2006. Nevertheless, management measures are 
in place to ensure that the percentage trend 
referred to above continues. (SOPR) 

 Water quality  Currently there are a significant number of rivers 
which are not achieving good ecological status in 
accordance with the Water Framework Directive. 
All rivers which require assessment for their 
chemical status are in good condition. 
 
Currently the vast majority of groundwater 
bodies in the Park are achieving good chemical 
good chemical status and relatively few are in a 
poor condition.  All of the groundwater bodies in 
the Park are achieving good quantitative status. 
Of the 19 lakes in the Park 11 are in good 
condition (58%) and 8 (42%) are in moderate 
condition.  None of the lakes require assessment 
for chemical status. 

Neutral 

 Air quality  Data for 2010 shows that particulate matter 
(PM10) Is between 10 and 15 ug/m3.  This is 
below Air Quality Standards (Wales) 2010 
Regulations limit values for PM10 are a 
concentration less than 40ug/m3.  There are 
no air quality management areas within the 
National Park. 

Neutral 

 Water quantity Catchment Area Management Strategies 
(CAMs) are in place for the whole of the 
National Park area. 
Water is available for abstraction in the 
majority of the Carmarthenshire area of the 
National Park. 
The majority of the NP area is defined as 
over abstracted, with small areas defined as 
having No Water Available or Over 

Neutral 

Page 111



39 | P a g e  
 

Abstracted.  This data has not changed since 
the beginning of the plan period. 

 Geodiversity  There are currently 76 Regionally Important 
Geodiversity Sites in the Park, whereas at the 
start of the plan period there were 11.  The 
sites condition is set out accordingly:- 
3% - Poor 
5% - Degrading 
9% - Stable 
67% - Good 
16% - Excellent 
In 2006 all 11 sites were in good condition 
(data source SOPR). 

Neutral 

 Phase One 
Species 

Over half (55%) of the grassland habitats were 
improved grassland. Just over 1% of the National 
Park was built environment. 57,347 hectares of 
the Brecon Beacons National Park are under 
statutory ownership. Of these 57, 347 hectares 
39% is designated as Sites of Special Scientific 
Interest (SSSI), 33% is owned by the National 
Park, 15% is owned by Natural Resources Wales, 
7% is owned by the National Trust, 4% is a 
Special Area of Conservation (SAC), 2% is 
National Nature Reserve (NNR) and less than 1% 
is owned by Brecknock Wildlife Trust. Natural 
Resources Wales have recently updated and 
released Phase I habitat mapping of Wales 
through the use of satellite imagery. The data 
was collected over the course of many years. 
Analysis of habitat change over time may now be 
conducted as long as certain caveats are 
considered when comparing the data. Updated 
Phase 1 data shows that Grassland now accounts 
for 57% of the principal habitat type across the 
National Park which shows a reduction of 
approximately 5%. Woodland now accounts for 
17% of the principal habitat types, an increase of 
approximately 3%. Heathland now accounts for 
10% of the principal habitat types across the 
park, a decrease of 1. (data source SOPR) 

Neutral 

 Scheduled 
Ancient 
Monuments 
(SAMs) 

In 2006 there were 268 SAMs within the 
Park.  Of these, 95.4% were in either a stable 
or favourable condition (257).  In 2014 there 
were 357 SAMS in the park – an increase of 
89 since 2006.  Of the 357 SAMs in the Park 
95.5% were in a stable or favourable 
condition.  In 2014 there was a slightly 
smaller percentage (0.4%) of SAMs in an 
unstable or unfavourable condition.  Whilst 

Positive 

Page 112



40 | P a g e  
 

this figure is not large, it is worth noting that 
89 ancient monuments have been scheduled 
since 2006 which means there is now a 
greater total number of SAMs in either 
stable or favourable condition. (data source 
SOPR) 

 Listed buildings at 
risk 

In 2006 there were 1,711 listed buildings.  Of 
these 11% were at risk. The number of listed 
buildings increased by 2014 to 1,950 Listed 
Buildings.  Of these 6.6% were at risk.  The 
number of listed buildings has therefore 
increased whilst the number at risk as 
decreased since the beginning of the plan 
period. In 2016 the number of listed 
buildings had increased to 1951, with 5.4% 
of those being at risk.  (data source SOPR and 
CADW) 

Positive 

 % historic 
landscape with up 
to date character 
appraisal 

100% of Historic Landscape Areas have up to 
date characterisations. 

Neutral 

 Archaeological 
Protection 

During the period of this AMR 526 planning 
applications have been screened for their 
potential impact on archaeological 
resources.  This has resulted in a total of 87 
applications requiring works to ensure the 
protection of the National Park’s 
Archaeology. 

Neutral 

 Broadband 
coverage and 
speed 

The superfast Cymru project covers the 
majority of the National Park Area. By the 
end of the project it is anticipated that all 
communities will have access to high-speed 
broadband. 

Neutral 

 Travel to work The ONS publish travel to work area data 
based on the findings of the 2011 
Census.  The National Park comprises the 
following 5 Travel to Work Areas 

- Swansea 
- Llanelli 
- Brecon 
- Merthyr Tydfil  
- Hereford 

 

Neutral 

 Length and 
condition of 
public rights of 
way 

In 2006 there was a total of 1,983Km public 
rights of way within the park area.  By 2013 that 
had increased to 2,009Km. 
 

Positive 

Page 113



41 | P a g e  
 

 The percentage of rights of way that are easy to 
use was slightly lower in 2013 than in 2006, 
however there were 26km more rights of way. 
The number of rights of way that are easy to use 
has increased since 2010/2011 and this trend is 
expected to continue. Overall the general 
condition of this indicator is good. 

 
 Public transport 

routes in the park 
There are 10 local bus routes operating 
within the National Park. 
 
24 – Ponsticill-Merthyr Tydfil 
30- Brynmawr- Blaenavon-Pontypool-
Newport 
39-Brecon-Hay on Wye – Kingstone – 
Hereford 
80- Brecon –Llandovery-Carmarthen 
X75-Merthyr Tydfil- Hirwaun- Glynneath-
Neath-Swansea 
T4- Newtown-Llandrindod Wells-Brecon-
Merthyr Tydfil-Cardiff 
X4- Hereford-Abergavenny-Merthyr Tydfil-
Cardiff 
X33- Abergavenny-Pontypool-Cwmbran-
Cardiff 
X43-Brecon-Crickhowell-Abergavenny 
X63-Brecon-Ystradgynlais-Neath-Swansea  
7 – Cwmaman - Penderyn 

Neutral 

 Cycle routes in 
the park 

2 Long-distance National Cycle Routes cross 
the BBNP 
-National Cycle Route 8, the Taff Trail 
-National Cycle Route 42, Lon Las Cymru 

Neutral 

 Welsh Indices of 
Multiple 
Deprivation 

The National Park area mostly comprises 
50% least deprived LSOA.  Areas around the 
heads of the valley demonstrate higher 
levels of overall deprivation. 

Neutral 

 Crime Statistics This information is not readily available at 
National Park level, however, crime statistics 
appear to be below average within the 
National Park compared with the rest of 
Wales. 

Neutral 

 Knowledge of 
Welsh Language 

See Table 1 below for data gathered at Ward 
level from both the 2001 and 2011 census. 

Negative  

 Visitor 
satisfaction  

In November 2013, the Brecon Beacons 
Marketing and Coordination Group published the 
results of the annual Brecon Beacons Visitor 
Survey. Further information on the Visitor Survey 
can be found here. http://www.beacons-

Neutral 

Page 114

http://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/communities/tourism-new/tourism-facts-and-figures-1/


42 | P a g e  
 

npa.gov.uk/communities/tourism-new/tourism-
facts-and-figures-1/ 
Overall, the visit experience is good and almost 
half (48%) of visitors said it exceeded their 
expectations and 51% said it met them. Just 1% 
said that their experience fell short of 
expectations. This year’s Visit Wales visitor 
survey shows similar results for Wales as a whole 
(49% exceeded and 49% met expectations). 
There is little variation amongst day and 
overnight visitors. The highest ratings come from 
new visitors 56% of which say the visit exceeded 
their expectations. This is encouraging for 
potential future return visits. Visitors from some 
areas are slightly more impressed by the area 
than others. Over half of the visitors coming from 
London & South East (53%) and overseas (52%) 
said that expectations were exceeded 

 Education 
standards 

The National School Categorisation detailed 
that of the schools serving the National Park 
area as follows:- 

Category 2014 2015 2016 

Red 3% 2% 0% 

Amber 18% 23% 5% 

Yellow 50% 41% 46% 

Green 29% 34% 49% 
 

Positive 
(The % 
within 
Yellow and 
Green has 
increased 
by 5% and 
15% 
respectively 
and the % 
within 
Amber and 
Red has 
reduced 
from 25% 
to just 5%) 

 Number of farms 
and farmers 

Data from 2014 demonstrates that there 
were 1,445 jobs provided within agriculture, 
forestry, fishing within the Brecon Beacons 
National Park.   However this sector is 
decreasing within the National Park.  Jobs in 
agriculture and fishery made up 10% of 
employment type in 1991.  By 2001 this had 
reduced to 7.3% and by 2011 this sector 
accounted for 5.9% of employment types 
within the National Park. (Source SOPR) 

Negative 

 Tourist Spending Tourism Spend in 2009 was £197 million 
increasing to £216 million by 2013 and £247 
million by 2016 (STEAM data). 

Positive 

 
 

Page 115

http://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/communities/tourism-new/tourism-facts-and-figures-1/
http://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/communities/tourism-new/tourism-facts-and-figures-1/


43 | P a g e  
 

Table 1 Knowledge of Welsh Language within the National Park 
This table shows data returns for both the 2001 and 2011 Census and demonstrates the level of 
welsh speaking within the National Park by electoral ward.  As not all wards are wholly within the 
National Park area, the percentage of population for each ward residing within the National Park is 
also given.  Those wards listed in Red have seen a drop in the level of welsh speaking and knowledge 
of welsh, whereas those in green there has been a rise in knowledge of Welsh/residents ability to 
communicate in Welsh 
 

Knowledge of Welsh Language  2001 2011 

  

Percentage 
of 
population 
within 
boundary 

Percentage 
with some 
Knowledge 
of Welsh  

Percentage 
can speak, 
write and 
read Welsh  

Percentage 
with some 
knowledge 
of Welsh  

Percentage 
can speak, 
write and 
read Welsh 

 Ward Name  
     

Abercraf 3% 64.0 30.5 58.89 26.28 

Bwlch 100% 16.4 7.4 18.23 7.80 

Crickhowell & Vale of Grwyne 100% 16.6 8.2 14.35 6.39 

Cwmtwrch 0% 70.9 39.7 65.12 30.70 

Honddu Isaf/Llanddew (Felinfach) 3% 25.0 10.5 21.48 9.85 

Gwernyfed + Llanigon 36% 15.4 6.9 14.87 6.81 

Hay 100% 12.3 5.5 14.39 5.82 

Llangattock 100% 16.6 7.2 17.92 5.91 

Llangors 100% 23.0 10.7 19.63 8.52 

Llangynidr 100% 22.9 10.5 18.24 8.59 

Maescar/Llywel, Crai 100% 42.6 20.4 40.16 18.09 

Brecon St Davids 100% 22.4 9.4 20.65 9.15 

Brecon St Johns 100% 25.2 12.9 

Brecon St Marys 100% 21.0 9.8 

Talgarth 96% 19.7 7.0 20.07 8.47 

Talybont, Glyntarell, Llanfrynach 93% 23.2 11.2 22.15 8.32 

Tawe-Uchaf/Fellte 57% 49.4 21.4 42.97 16.24 

Yscir, Trallong,  29% 29.6 12.3 27.55 12.33 

Ystradgynlais rural 1% 66.7 31.7 57.23 24.61 

Garnant Cwmamman 3% 79.4 55.0 69.47 41.61 

Glanamman 1% 77.6 52.3 70.47 41.80 

Dyffryn Cennen (Llandeilo) 13% 70.0 42.9 66.54 36.82 

Llandovery, Llanfair 5% 60.2 35.7 54.07 29.38 

Llandybie 

Less than 
1% 75.2 46.2 71.41 38.78 

Llangadog,Llanddeusant,Myddfai 45% 69.0 51.6 65.16 43.81 

Quarter Bach 6% 83.3 61.7 76.62 51.25 

Rhigos (Hirwaun) 49% 32.5 13.9 29.59 12.35 

Vaynor 12% 21.3 7.8 18.05 6.79 

Brynmawr 1% 14.8 6.8 11.86 5.75 

Pontypool New Inn 0% 13.5 7.7 11.91 5.83 

Abergavenny north (Cantref) 3% 15.0 8.0 13.41 6.24 

Page 116



44 | P a g e  
 

Crucorney 36% 12.0 7.3 14.29 7.45 

Goetre Fawr 10% 14.3 8.0 15.71 8.23 

Llanelly 100% 15.0 7.6 14.23 6.49 

Llanfoist Fawr 17% 15.2 7.5 15.85 8.51 

Llanover 3% 12.2 6.5 12.18 6.45 

Llanfoist Llanwenarth Ultra 100% 14.3 7.1 13.61 6.36 

Llantilio Pertholey Mardy 13% 14.2 7.4 16.27 7.61 

 
 
 

3. The National Park Management Plan: State of the Park Report 
 
http://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/the-authority/who-we-are/npmp/state-of-the-park-
report-2/ 
 

Page 117

http://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/the-authority/who-we-are/npmp/state-of-the-park-report-2/
http://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/the-authority/who-we-are/npmp/state-of-the-park-report-2/


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Correspondence
	Annual Improvement Report 2016-17   Brecon Beacons National Park Authority  
	Contents
	Summary report
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2

	3 Minutes
	7 Committee Timetable 2018
	Enc. 1 for Committee Timetable 2018

	8 Review of Members Exit Interview Policy
	Enc. 1 Proposed changes to Exit Interview Policy
	Enc. 2 Exit Interview form

	9 Review of Personal Development Interview Process
	Enc 1 PDI Policy - amended for NPA.doc
	Enc. 2 Draft DPI pro forma

	10 Affordable Housing Working Group:  terms of reference
	Enc. 1 for Affordable Housing Working Group:  terms of reference

	11 Local Development Plan Annual Monitoring Report (Apr 2016-Mar2017)
	Enc. 1 Draft Annual Monitoring Report 2016/17


